
CC 3/19/24  Page 1 of 2 

City of Depoe Bay 
City Council Regular Meeting 

March 19, 2024 – Tuesday, 6:00 PM 
Depoe Bay City Hall – 570 SE Shell Avenue 

 
 

The Meeting Location is Accessible to the Public 
 
To Join Zoom from Your Computer, Tablet, or Smartphone: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3850131421?pwd=dnVZa0lxbFRHWHIwMndMT3VjUjI2QT09 
Meeting ID:  385 013 1421 
Passcode:  wx02sD 

To Join Zoom from Your Phone: 
Phone: (253) 215-8782 
Meeting ID: 385 013 1421 
Passcode: wx02sD 

 
Please Note:  In the event of Zoom Technical Difficulties the Telephone Conference System will be utilized. 

Dial (888) 204-5987, access code 9599444 
 

Public comments may be made via email up to two hours before the meeting start time at 
info@cityofdepoebay.org 

 
 

AGENDA
 
A. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

B. Call Meeting to Order and Establish a Quorum 
 

C. Actions from Executive Session (if needed) 
Action:           
 

D. Changes and Additions to the Agenda 
 

E. Consent Agenda  
Covers routine administrative matters that are not generally discussed and may all be approved as 
recommended in a staff report. The mayor will provide an opportunity for a Council member or citizen to 
ask that an item be pulled from the consent agenda for discussion. These items will receive separate 
action. All items not removed will be approved by a single motion of the Council. 
1) City Council Regular Meeting Minutes – January 23, 2024 
2) Accounts Payable Report 

  Action:           
 

F. Guest Presentations 
1) Lincoln County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 

 
G. Commission/Committee/Group Reports 

Emergency Preparedness Committee 
Harbor, Planning, Parks, and Salmon Enhancement Commissions 

 
H. Public Comment 

The public has the opportunity to address the Council during "Public Comment.” Those attending 
virtually may raise their hand electronically or request to speak upon unmuting. The public may also 
send written comments by email to recorder@cityofdepoebay.org. Please limit comments to one 
page and include your name and address. Emails received before 5:00 p.m. on the day of the 
meeting will be included and read into the record for comments by the Council. 

 
I. Unfinished Business 

1) Park & Community Hall Reservation Requests – Depoe Bay Chamber of 
Commerce 
Action:             

Page 1 of 160

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3850131421?pwd=dnVZa0lxbFRHWHIwMndMT3VjUjI2QT09
mailto:info@cityofdepoebay.org
mailto:recorder@cityofdepoebay.org


CC 3/19/24  Page 2 of 2 

 
J. New Business 

1) Inn at Arch Rock License Agreement 
Action:           
 

2) Shell Avenue Right-of-Way Dedication 
Action:           
 

3) Lincoln County Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant 
Action:           
 

4) Resilience Hubs and Networks Grant 
Action:           
 

5) Drinking Water Source Protection Grant 
Action:           
 

6) Land Acquisition (Discussion) 
 

K. City Staff Reports 
1) Project Updates 

a. Planner Log – February 2024 
b. Planning Process for Emergency Supply Caches (Information) 
 

2) Water Treatment Plant 
 
L. Closing Public Comment 

 
M. Council Comments 
 
N. Adjournment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Depoe Bay City Hall is accessible to people with disabilities. If special accommodations are needed, please notify City 
Hall at (541) 765-2361 48-Hours in advance of the meeting so appropriate assistance can be provided. 

TTY#1-800-735-2900 
 

“This institution is an equal opportunity provider.” 
 
 

Rules of Conduct for Public Meetings 
 
No person shall be disorderly, abusive, or disruptive of the orderly conduct of the meeting. Microphones will be muted for remote participants unless 
called upon to speak or during public comment period. 
 
Persons shall not comment or testify without first receiving recognition from the presiding officer and stating their full name and city of residence.  
 
During public hearings, no person shall present irrelevant, immaterial, or repetitious testimony or evidence. 
 
There shall be no audience demonstrations such as applause, cheering, display of signs, or other conduct disruptive of the meeting. If online 
participant(s) disrupt the meeting, the participant(s) microphone and webcam will be turned off. If disruption continues, the participant(s) will be 
removed from the meeting. 

Page 2 of 160



 

1 | P a g e  
 

Depoe Bay City Council Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, January 23, 2024 – 6:00 PM 
Depoe Bay City Hall 
 
PRESENT: K. Short, J. King, R. Beasley, L. Bedingfield, V. Sovern, F. Recht, A. Watson 
ABSENT: None. 
STAFF: Public Works Director B. Weidner; City Recorder Kimberly Wollenburg, Admin 

Assistant G. Burke 
GUEST(S): Dennis White – Friends of Otter Rock 
 
A. PLEDGE OF ALLIEGIENCE 

 
B. CALL MEETING TO ORDER AND ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

Mayor Short called the meeting to order and established a quorum at 6:00 PM. 
 

C. CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 
None.  

 
D. Consent Agenda  

 
Councilor Recht asked why the City hasn’t seen any revenue from the marijuana tax 
yet. City Recorder Wollenburg said it will be shown in the next report. There was a 
discussion about fuel sales and expenditures. Mayor Short asked if the City Recorder 
could do some research into it and report back at the next City Council meeting. 
Councilor King asked if there was anything to report on grant revenue. City Recorder 
Wollenburg said that the paperwork has been filed for several grants, but she hasn’t 
heard back yet about whether the City will receive them. 

 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda made by Councilor King; seconded by 
Councilor Sovern 
  

Vote: Motion Passed 7/0 
Ayes: Beasley, Bedingfield, King, Recht, Short, Sovern, Watson 

 
E. Guest Presentations 

1) Lincoln County Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report (November - December) – Not 
available. 
 

2) Friends of Otter Rock (https://friendsofotterrock.org/) 
Dennis White and Marlene from Friends of Otter Rock provided a PowerPoint 
presentation with details about their organization’s mission and efforts. The 
organization is interested in conservation and education. They are promoting 
their yearly internship program, which sees one or two local high schoolers 
acting as Tide Pool Ambassadors. The interns learn communication skills, 
leadership skills, and gain experience interacting with people of varied 
backgrounds. They thanked the City of Depoe Bay for their funding. They would 
like the City to consider donating funds to their organization on an ongoing 
basis.  
 

Page 3 of 160

https://friendsofotterrock.org/


 

2 | P a g e  
 

E. Commission/Committee/Group Reports 
Emergency Preparedness Committee - Councilor King said that the recent ice storm 
was a wakeup call for how unprepared many people are in the event of an 
emergency. A number of people came to the community center to get warm and 
eat food. Going forward, Councilor King said that the Committee will be asking 
Samantha Buckley, Lincoln County Emergency Manager, to come to Depoe Bay 
and give another presentation on emergency preparation. Two dates that are 
suggested for her visit are April 27th and May 4th. Ms. Buckley will let us know which 
date works well for her, and the Community Hall will be reserved for the presentation. 

 
At the event, Councilor King said that she would like the Committee to introduce 
themselves to members of the public and inform them of the purpose and mission of 
the Emergency Preparedness Committee. She would also like to encourage the 
public to ask questions and make suggestions on how the City can improve its 
emergency response. 

 
Councilor Bedingfield said that more work needs to be done on developing a 
protocol for when an emergency will be declared, and at what point during the 
emergency will an emergency cache container be opened and its supplies 
distributed to the public. Councilor Beasley said that he believes the City already has 
emergency protocols in place that are specifically outlined in the Emergency 
Operations Plan. 
 
Councilor Bedingfield reminded Councilor Beasley that they are currently doing 
committee reports and that he does not sit on the Emergency Preparedness 
Committee. Councilor Beasley conceded that he doesn’t sit on the Committee, but 
he wanted to make a comment all the same. Councilor Recht said that she’d like 
the City’s website to be a more robust resource for information about preparing for 
emergencies. Councilor Beasley asked if Councilor Recht was on the Committee, 
and Councilor Recht answered no. Councilor Beasley thanked her.  

 
Harbor Commission – Jack O’Brien noted that they didn’t have a meeting in 
December and the next one is the end of January. 

 
Planning Commission – None.  

 
Parks Commission – None. 

 
Salmon Enhancement Commission – None. 

 
F. Public Comment 

None. 
 

G. Unfinished Business 
1) Big Tire Park Right-of-Way Vacation (Discussion) 

Mayor Short opened the floor for discussion. Councilor Beasley suggested that 
the sign that is currently there be removed. He also said that he believes the 
area is not only an attractive nuisance, but is a dangerous place. There was a 
discussion about what deterrents could be placed in the area to help alert 

Page 4 of 160



 

3 | P a g e  
 

people of the danger. Caution tape and/or a fence and warning signs were 
suggested. Councilor Sovern asked if they were still pursuing the process of 
vacating the property; City Recorder Wollenburg said that it’s up to the City 
Council to decide whether they want to pursue. Mayor Short asked what the 
neighboring property owners have said regarding the property; City Recorder 
Wollenburg said that she’d spoken to them, and they both report that they do 
not want to take on the liability of the property. Councilor Recht voiced 
concern over taking away access to a coastal shoreline area without replacing 
it with equal access to coastal shoreline elsewhere in the City. City Recorder 
Wollenburg said that right now the focus should be on putting up something to 
deter people from getting too close to the edge, perhaps a fence or at least 
some caution tape. The was a discussion about a scenic ledge or viewing 
platform.  Council concurred with bringing forth a resolution to repeal the 
vacation and directed staff to put some kind of safety barrier at the location. 
 

H. New Business 
1) Declaring a State of Emergency 

Mayor Short did a brief introduction to the resolution and the need for the City 
to declare an emergency even though the City didn’t experience a lot of 
damage as a result of the winter ice storm. 
 
Motion to approve Resolution 555-24 declaring a state of emergency made by 
Councilor Recht; seconded by Councilor Watson 

  
Councilor Beasley said that there is a section within the City’s Emergency 
Operations Plan which outlines when the City should declare an emergency 
and that the best thing to do would be to follow what it says. 

 
Vote: Motion Passed 7/0 
Ayes: Beasley, Bedingfield, King, Recht, Short, Sovern, Watson 

 
2) First Reading Houseless Ordinance 

Mayor Short provided a brief update regarding the draft ordinance, its impact, 
and the reason for having to provide the Ordinance and the time, manner, and 
place related to the houselessness. 
 
Motion to read by title only Ordinance 343-24 amending Chapter 72 and adding 
Chapter 97 and declaring an emergency made by Councilor King; seconded 
by Councilor Sovern 
 

Vote: Motion Passed 7/0 
Ayes: Beasley, Bedingfield, King, Recht, Short, Sovern, Watson 

  
Councilor Recht said that she would like to know where the ordinance says that 
a person is able to camp within Depoe Bay because it doesn’t specifically 
identify that. She was also unclear on time limits for camping within City limits. 
Different areas of the City where there might be room for camping were 
discussed—by the harbor launch area, in certain parking lots, at the City Park.  
 

Page 5 of 160



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Councilor Bedingfield indicated that she is in support of identifying areas of 
public property that can be used for camping but thinks that identifying areas 
of private property for camping should be a separate discussion. She believes 
that allowing camping near the harbor is a bad idea. She believes that City Hall 
could accommodate one or two spaces for camping in its parking lot; however, 
Mayor Short voiced her opposition to the idea. Councilor Beasley said that he 
agrees with Councilor Bedingfield’s assertion that more public property areas 
should be identified for camping use. 
 
Councilor King said that she was concerned that people camping on City Hall 
grounds would lead to an increase of people entering the building, perhaps to 
use the toilets, and the office staff might be negatively affected. Councilor 
Bedingfield expressed concern over the proposal that the City’s only park be 
used for camping by people experiencing homelessness because she feels that 
it poses a danger for children who want to use the park. 
 
Mayor Short said that all campers will need to vacate the approved area by 
7:00 AM. Councilor Bedingfield asked what the difference is, in that case, 
between allowing camping at the park and allowing it at the City Hall parking 
lot. Councilor Beasley and Councilor Recht expressed concern over how the 
City will be able to keep encampment areas clean and free of debris and/or 
garbage, regardless of where it is. 

 
3) Fireworks Banning Ordinance Amendment (Discussion) 

Councilor Recht said that she supports the amendment because it doesn’t 
make sense to ban fireworks without also banning sales of fireworks in the City.  
Council concurred with staff moving forward to present the draft ordinance to 
ban fireworks as discussed at the next meeting. 
 

4) Amendment to Construction Support Services – PND Engineering 
Councilor Recht asked whether PND should have caught the error. City 
Recorder Wollenburg said that PND was hired to do the bidding for us and while 
it would have been helpful for the City to catch the error; staff relied on PND’s 
expertise. Discussion followed regarding having a discussion with PND 
Engineering about the issue and the costs. City Recorder Wollenburg shared 
that we could certainly have a discussion but then the City may have to find 
another construction manager for the Harbor project. 
 
Motion to approve Amendment 1 to the Construction Support Services 
Agreement with PND Engineering made by Councilor Beasley; seconded by 
Councilor Recht 

  
Vote: Motion Passed 7/0 
Ayes: Beasley, Bedingfield, King, Recht, Short, Sovern, Watson 

 
5) Reduced Government Rate 

Jack O’Brien from the Harbor Commission addressed the City Council and there 
was a discussion about research vessels and charter vessels. It was suggested 

Page 6 of 160



 

5 | P a g e  
 

that the wording be changed to reflect both government research and 
university research vessels.  
 
Motion to approve Resolution 556-24 to provide a reduced government rate 
made by Councilor Beasley; seconded by Councilor Recht. 

  
Vote: Motion Passed 7/0 
Ayes: Beasley, Bedingfield, King, Recht, Short, Sovern, Watson 

 
6) Microplastics Solutions Research Project (Discussion) 

There was a discussion about what microplastics are and what research is being 
done to identify how they affect our drinking water and sea life. Council 
supported and concurred with staff to proceed with supporting the project. 
 

I. City Staff Reports 
City Recorder Wollenburg spoke to the Council about the auditor receiving the 
termination letter but emailed to note that they had submitted a draft audit to their 
reviewer but then sent it to the City the next day. There was a discussion headed by 
City Recorder Wollenburg and Public Works Director Weidner about the City’s 
response to the recent power outage. Public Works Director Weidner talked about 
how things went during the power outage. He noted that transfer switches and a 
backup generator are needed. He reported that his staff responded well during the 
event, and their hard work helped the City get back to normal after power was 
restored. City Recorder Wollenburg noted that a 100-gallon fuel tank that can fit into 
the bed of one of the Public Works trucks is needed. 
 
Discussion followed regarding having a work session for watershed protection 
discussion and emergency preparedness. Councilor Recht provided some additional 
information regarding planning for watershed protection and the upcoming grant 
with an idea to provide direction on pursuing a planning grant.  

 
J. CLOSING PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
K. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
Bedingfield – thanked the Mayor, City Recorder Wollenburg, and Public Works 
Director Weidner for their leadership during the ice storm. 

 
Short – said that her goal is to review the Emergency Operations Plan at the next 
City Council work session.  

 
Sovern – None. 

 
Beasley – he appreciated the comments about where the City is with emergency 
preparedness. He said he’d really dug in and met with two members to find out 
more about the Committee. He regretted that he was unable to attend the 
previous night’s emergency preparedness meeting, but also noted that it didn’t 
have the option to attend via Zoom. He would like to see that a Zoom option be 
made available for all future meetings. City Recorder Wollenburg noted that the 

Page 7 of 160



 

6 | P a g e  
 

plan was to begin with the next meeting on Zoom. He said that he views the 
Committee through the lens of the City’s Emergency Operations Plan which states 
that the City Council is responsible for emergency preparedness. He said that if the 
City doesn’t want to use the Emergency Operations Plan, then the City Council 
should disavow from it to avoid liability. He feels that the answers to most of the 
questions posed by the Committee are answered in the Emergency Operations 
plan, but his feeling is that nobody is actually reading the Emergency Operations 
Plan. Mayor King said she has it but hasn’t reviewed it for a while, but there is 
needed a lot of planning around moving forward with how to implement 
emergency preparedness and the plan is to discuss this at the next meeting. 

 
King – None. 

 
Watson – would like to see the City put on a public safety campaign around the 
dangers of downed power lines. 

 
Recht – thanked Councilor King and Councilor Watson for cooking hot food during 
the power outage. 
 

M. ADJOURNMENT. Meeting adjourned by Mayor Short at 7:57 PM. 
 
 
 
Submitted by:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
               
Gena Burke, Administrative Assistant  Kimberly Wollenburg, City Recorder 

Page 8 of 160



Reference Date Amount Notes
Reference Number: 35189 Analytical Laboratory Group $153.03
Invoice - 165099 2/29/2024 $73.00 Water Tests
Invoice - 165379 3/13/2024 $80.03 WWTP Pool: EW Kits

Reference Number: 35190 AT & T Teleconference Services $6.62
Invoice - 403-001347 3/1/2024 $6.62 Teleconference Services

Reference Number: 35191 Barbara Chestler $1,102.00
Invoice - 24SC03987 3/13/2024 $1,102.00 Judgement Ordered

Reference Number: 35192 Barrelhead Supply $216.78
Invoice - 324510 3/5/2024 $216.78 Desk materials for WWTP - Non Pool

Reference Number: 35193 Brady Weidner $338.51
Invoice - 20240314 BW 3/14/2024 $338.51 Travel Expenses for Training

Reference Number: 35194 Brimar Industries $242.03
Invoice - 1402938 2/22/2024 $242.03 Parking Signs

Reference Number: 35195 Cedar Creek Quarries Inc $1,950.00
Invoice - 128869-IN 2/29/2024 $1,950.00 1" Crushed Rock - Stock

Reference Number: 35196 Charter Communications - Spectrum $84.98
Invoice - 121520022924 2/29/2024 $84.98 Community Hall Internet & Voice

Reference Number: 35197 Clean Blue Earth LLC $455.00
Invoice - 240 CBE 3/13/2024 $455.00 City Hall & Community Hall Cleaning

Reference Number: 35198 CNA Surety $286.00
Invoice - 24/25 OR Pub Blanket Bond 3/15/2024 $286.00 OR Public Official Blanket Bond

Reference Number: 35199 Country Media, Inc $561.00
Invoice - 684892 2/7/2024 $69.10 City Auditor Posting
Invoice - 685027 2/21/2024 $170.30 Public Notice Posting - Planning
Invoice - 685028 2/21/2024 $178.00 Public Notice Posting - Planning
Invoice - 685029 2/21/2024 $143.60 Public Notice Posting - Planning

Register Activity

Fiscal: 2023-2024
Period: 2023-2024 - March
Council Date: 2023-2024 - March - AP 3/19/2024, 2023-2024 - March - AP 3/6/2024

 Printed by DEPOEBAY\accou on 3/15/2024 4:17:30 PM Page 1 of 4
Register Activity

Page 9 of 160



Reference Date Amount Notes
Reference Number: 35200 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP $3,383.50
Invoice - 7062088 2/28/2024 $1,971.00 Legacy Construction Bid Protest
Invoice - 7062089 2/28/2024 $1,412.50 Land Use Litigation

Reference Number: 35201 Diane Robson $120.00
Invoice - 20240229 DCR 2/29/2024 $120.00 OR Gov't Finance Officers Association 

Annual Membership

Reference Number: 35202 Englund Marine & Industrial Supply $42.87
Invoice - 19288/6 3/9/2024 $42.87 Safety Equipment for Salmon Dock - 

Salmon Enhancement

Reference Number: 35203 Erika Birdsley $11.81
Invoice - 20240312 EB 3/12/2024 $11.81 Refund after final Utility Billing

Reference Number: 35204 Ferguson Waterworks #3011 $8,707.98
Invoice - 1249097 3/8/2024 $506.70 Repair Stock
Invoice - 1249583 3/4/2024 $7,637.30 Collins Water Line Project
Invoice - 1250024 3/11/2024 $563.98 Repair Stock

Reference Number: 35205 Konica Minolta Business Solutions $328.26
Invoice - 820014242 3/4/2024 $328.26 PBX Phones

Reference Number: 35206 Legacy Contracting Inc $5,000.00
Invoice - 20240308 3/8/2024 $5,000.00 Legal Settlement - Legacy v Depoe 

Bay

Reference Number: 35207 Lincoln County Solid Waste Consortium $105.39
Invoice - 20240304 3/4/2024 $105.39 Depoe Bay Portion

Reference Number: 35208 Lisa Gardner $80.36
Invoice - 20240312 3/12/2024 $80.36 Refund after final Utility Billing

Reference Number: 35209 MacPherson, Gintner & Diaz $5,700.00
Invoice - 20240229 - 10370 3/13/2024 $5,700.00 General Business

Reference Number: 35210 Mills Ace Hardware $559.15
Invoice - 664407/1 3/1/2024 $29.44 Engine Oil & Keys
Invoice - 664493/1 3/6/2024 $25.98 Landscape Fabric - Lingcod Parking 

Lot
Invoice - 664625/1 3/11/2024 $53.74 Supplies
Invoice - C29463/1 3/1/2024 $449.99 Chainsaw

Reference Number: 35211 National Business Solutions $1,365.70
Invoice - IN128518 3/6/2024 $1,037.57 IT Services

 Printed by DEPOEBAY\accou on 3/15/2024 4:17:30 PM Page 2 of 4
Register Activity

Page 10 of 160



Reference Date Amount Notes
Reference Number: 35211 National Business Solutions $1,365.70
Invoice - IN128712 3/8/2024 $328.13 Billable Copies

Reference Number: 35212 North Lincoln Sanitary Service $4,081.61
Invoice - 20240301 - 20711 3/1/2024 $266.52 Garbage - Community Hall
Invoice - 20240301 - 29005 3/1/2024 $333.54 Garbage - Harbor
Invoice - 20240301 - 29006 3/1/2024 $1,038.81 Garbage - Downtown
Invoice - 20240301 - 29532 3/1/2024 $113.16 Garbage - Fish Cleaning
Invoice - 20240304 - 16351 3/4/2024 $2,329.58 WWTP Pool: Sludge Haul

Reference Number: 35213 One Call Concepts $78.40
Invoice - 4020356 2/29/2024 $78.40 Utility Locates

Reference Number: 35214 Pacific Coast Congress of Harbormasters $365.00
Invoice - 1068 1/1/2024 $365.00 Membership - Hildenbrand

Reference Number: 35215 Pioneer Printing $23.50
Invoice - 82898 3/1/2024 $23.50 Nameplate

Reference Number: 35216 Road & Driveway Co. $8,096.80
Invoice - 30043-IN 2/23/2024 $8,096.80 Asphalt Overlay - Floral Ave

Reference Number: 35217 Samaritan Occupational Medicine $806.00
Invoice - 20240302 3/2/2024 $806.00 Crew Immunizations

Reference Number: 35218 TCB Security Services, Inc $125.00
Invoice - 244990 3/4/2024 $125.00 Monthly Answering Service

Reference Number: 35219 TWGW Inc NAPA Auto Parts $25.72
Invoice - 85789 2/28/2024 $25.72 Wiper Blade - Flat Bed Truck

Reference Number: 35220 USA Blue Book $1,621.11
Invoice - 304799 3/13/2024 $1,621.11 WWTP Pool: Drying Racks & Sewage 

Pump

Reference Number: 35221 VenTek International $95.00
Invoice - 142550 3/1/2024 $95.00 Monthly Lauch Fee Kiosk Fee

Reference Number: 35222 Verizon Wireless $384.77
Invoice - 3358052169 3/1/2024 $384.77 Crew Phones

Reference Number: 35223 Western Title & Escrow Company $600.00
Invoice - WT0260526-1 3/13/2024 $300.00 OAE Report
Invoice - WT0260529-1 3/13/2024 $300.00 OAE Report

 Printed by DEPOEBAY\accou on 3/15/2024 4:17:30 PM Page 3 of 4
Register Activity

Page 11 of 160



Reference Date Amount Notes
Reference Number: 35224 Wex Bank $1,652.06
Invoice - 95656759 3/6/2024 $1,652.06 Shell Fuel Sales

Reference Number: 35225 Wiggins Hauling Works $750.00
Invoice - 2948 2/28/2024 $750.00 Rock Hauling to Stockpile

Reference Number: 20240306 EFT Wex Bank $1,264.16
Invoice - 95017837 2/6/2024 $1,264.16 Shell Fuel Sales

Reference Number: 20240306 EFT 
Umpqua

Umpqua Bank - Elan Financial Services $3,397.38

Invoice - February 2024 Statement 3/6/2024 $3,397.38 City Credit Card Purchases

 Printed by DEPOEBAY\accou on 3/15/2024 4:17:30 PM Page 4 of 4
Register Activity

TOTAL: $54,167.48

Page 12 of 160



Page 13 of 160



Page 14 of 160



Page 15 of 160



Page 16 of 160



Page 17 of 160



Page 18 of 160



Page 19 of 160



Page 20 of 160



Page 21 of 160



Page 22 of 160



Page 23 of 160



500 & 1500

02/28/24

Page 24 of 160



Page 25 of 160



Page 26 of 160



Date: March 19, 2024 

To: Depoe Bay City Council 

From: Kit Fox, AICP, City Planner 

Subject: License Agreement for Inn at Arch Rock Sign 

On September 5, 2023, the City Council conducted a public hearing to consider the 
appeal of a Variance and Sign Permit (Case File #2-VAR-PC-23) for the replacement of 
the former freestanding, off-site sign for the Inn at Arch Rock. The City Council’s action 
allowed the former sign to be replaced at the same location within the City’s public-right-
way with a new sign complying with City standards for freestanding signs. As a condition 
of approval for the replacement sign, the applicant is required to execute a license 
agreement with the City for the use of its right-of-way. 

On January 18, 2024, the applicant filed a Sign Permit application (Case File #1-2024) for 
the replacement sign. Staff reviewed the sign plans and determined that they comply 
with the conditions imposed by the City Council regarding sign location, width, height, 
and area. Staff consulted with the City Attorney and prepared a draft license agreement 
for the sign. The draft agreement is based upon similar agreements that previous City 
Councils have approved for other right-of-way encroachments. 

Staff provided the draft agreement to the applicant for his review on February 15, 2024. 
The applicant provided comments objecting to provisions of Section 6 (Indemnification, 
Insurance) and Section 7 (Termination). Staff accepted the requested changes to 
Section 6 as being non-substantial, but did not agree with the requested changes to 
Section 7. The attached draft agreement reflects Staff’s recommended language for the 
agreement, including the applicant’s requested amendments to Section 6. 

Proposed Section 7 (Termination) reads as follows: 

Termination of License: CITY may terminate this Temporary License to 
OWNER, and OWNER’S use of the right-of-way area, upon 60 days written 
notice to OWNER, with or without cause. Such notice shall be given to 
OWNER of the Benefited Property as then shown in the records of the 
Lincoln County Assessor’s Office and such notice may be mailed to OWNER 
at the last known mailing address on record with the Lincoln County 
Assessor’s Office. The notice shall be deemed given to OWNER upon 
deposit with the U.S. Postal Service, addressed to OWNER at OWNER’S last 
known address, with sufficient postage. OWNER shall remove all 
encroaching structures on or before the date of termination. If OWNER fails 
to remove the structures, CITY may remove them, and charge OWNER for 
the cost of such removal. 

Page 27 of 160



Inn at Arch Rock Sign License Agreement 
March 19, 2024, City Council Meeting 
 
 

APPS SIGN PERMITS/2024/#1-2024 INN AT ARCH ROCK/20240319_INN AT ARCH ROCK LICENSE AGREEMENT 

As reflected in the attached emails, the applicant objects to Section 7 as proposed. He 
argues that the provisions are “unnecessary and unfair,“ and that “termination [should 
only] be caused by uncured violations of the City sign code.” He argues that “there is 
unlikely to be much more building on [NW] Sunset [St.], [so] there is never going to be a 
need for widening the street.” He also asserts that termination of the license the 
agreement “’without cause’ will always put [the] sign at the whim of City officials and be 
a cloud on ever selling the business.” 

It is Staff’s position (supported by the City Attorney) that the “without cause” provisions of 
Section 7 are necessary to protect the City’s property interest in the right-of-way of NW 
Sunset Street. Aside from possible future violations of the sign code and/or the conditions 
imposed pursuant to Case File #2-VAR-PC-23, there may be other reasons that the City 
might need the sign to be removed – temporarily or permanently – in the future. These 
could include (but no be limited to) the repair or replacement of utility infrastructure 
within the public right-of-way near the sign. In addition, Staff believes that it is 
conceivable that street widening might be necessary in the future since the North Point 
neighborhood is currently developed at a density that is lower than the maximum that 
could be allowed under the current Residential R-4 zoning. The language of Section 7 is 
the same as language incorporated to other license agreements approved by the City 
Council in the past.  

The draft license agreement is presented for the City Council’s review and approval at 
tonight’s meeting. If determined to be appropriate by a majority of the City Council, 
modifications to the license agreement should be specified in any motion of approval. 
However, tonight’s meeting is not an opportunity for any interested party to re-argue the 
appropriateness of the City Council’s action of September 5, 2023. That action is final, 
and available administrative remedies (i.e., appeal to the Oregon Land Use Board of 
Appeals (LUBA)) have been exhausted. 

Attachments 

• Draft license agreement 
• Applicant’s objections to Section 7 (Termination) 
• Sign permit application packet 

Page 28 of 160



LICENSE AGREEMENT – INN AT ARCH ROCK SIGN     PAGE 1 of 3 
 

LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 

CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and dated this   day of    , 2024, by 
and between the City of Depoe Bay, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of 
the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred to as “CITY”, and G&M Arch Rock, LLC, a 
domestic limited liability company registered in the State of Oregon, hereinafter referred 
to as “OWNER”. 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
WHEREAS, OWNER owned an single pole sign located on certain real property adjacent 
to a public street right-of-way in CITY (the “Benefited Property”), said street right-of-way 
being: A portion of NW Sunset Street, the southerly side of the street right-of-way, lying 
westerly approximately 13 feet from the westerly right-of-way line of N Highway 101 at its 
intersection with NW Sunset Street, as depicted in the attached Exhibit “A”; and, 
 
WHEREAS, OWNER desired to repair its sign, which was located approximately 2 feet 
north of the southerly right-of-way line of NW Sunset Street, and encroached thereupon; 
and, 
 
WHEREAS, in order to repair and maintain its sign, OWNER necessarily will encroach 
upon and occupy a portion of such public street right-of-way; and, 
 
WHEREAS, CITY has approved a variance and sign permit (Case File #2-VAR-PC-23) 
in accordance with the provisions of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance to allow OWNER 
to replace the existing single pole sign with a new freestanding or monument sign in the 
same location, the final effective date of such action being October 30, 2023; and, 
 
WHEREAS, until such time as said portion of street right-of-way is needed for public 
purposes, CITY is willing, to the extent that it has lawful authority to do so, to permit 
temporary use of the street right-of-way by OWNER and grant the license as hereinafter 
provided; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree to as follows: 
 
1.  Description of Encroaching Improvements or Use:  The owner may construct and 

maintain a freestanding or monument sign in the same location occupied by the former 
single pole sign. The new sign shall comply with the provisions of DBZO Section 
152.096(B)(4) with respect to its maximum height, width and area. The new sign shall 
be located no more than two (2) feet into the public right-of-way of NW Sunset Street, 
and no less than thirteen (13) feet from the public right-of-way of N Highway 101. 

 
2.  Grant of Temporary License:  Upon acceptance of the terms hereof, OWNER is 

granted a temporary license to utilize the street right-of-way area solely for the above-

Page 29 of 160



LICENSE AGREEMENT – INN AT ARCH ROCK SIGN     PAGE 2 of 3 
 

mentioned encroaching improvement and use, subject to the terms and provisions 
contained herein.  

 
3.  Description of Benefited Property:  The property for which the temporary license 

granted above will benefit is described as follows: Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-
11-05CA, Tax Lots 16400, 16500 and 16600, also known as The Inn at Arch Rock, 70 
NW Sunset Street, Depoe Bay, Oregon, as further described in the legal description 
attached as Exhibit “A” to the Statutory Bargain and Sale Deed recorded with the 
Lincoln County Recorder on October 1, 2007, as Instrument No. 2007-14034, and in 
the legal description included as Page 1 of the Statutory Warranty Deed recorded with 
the Lincoln County Recorder on December 28, 2012, as Instrument No. 2012-12538. 

 
4.  Safety:  OWNER agrees that such improvement shall be maintained in such a manner 

that the same will not become a nuisance or hazard, all operations shall be carried out 
in a safe and careful manner, all reasonable safety precautions shall be undertaken 
as may be appropriate to protect the public from damage or injury arising out of 
OWNER’S uses and operations within the encroachment area, and the said 
improvement shall not be expanded beyond the scope of what is contemplated by this 
license.  

 
5.  Successors and Assigns:  The terms and obligations relating to the Temporary 

License granted above shall be a covenant running with OWNER’S land, and shall be 
binding upon OWNER’S successors and assigns. 

 
6.  Indemnification, Insurance:  OWNER hereby agrees to save and hold CITY harmless, 

and to defend and indemnify CITY of, from and against, any claims, demands, actions 
or suits arising as a consequence of CITY’S execution of this Temporary License in 
favor of OWNER or on account of the rights and privileges thereby extended to 
OWNER on account of any act or omission of OWNER, its employees, agents or 
representatives, in pursuit of the aforedescribed project; or on account of any failure 
of OWNER to carry out or discharge any obligation on the part of the OWNER herein.   
OWNER shall obtain and keep in effect, at all times during the terms of this license or 
any extension thereof or any holding over by OWNER, a good and sufficient policy of 
liability insurance covering all construction operations and any condition or 
circumstances creating or existing in connection with the aforedescribed project, and 
naming CITY as additional insured on such policy and providing that the same shall 
not be canceled without at least 30 60 days written notice to CITY, with an aggregate 
limit of not less than the amount provided by ORS 30.272(g) for the current fiscal year 
as maintained by the State Court Administrator online in the Oregon Tort Claims Table 
of Liability Limits. 

 
7.  Termination of License:  CITY may terminate this Temporary License to OWNER, and 

OWNER’S use of the right-of-way area, upon 30 60 days written notice to OWNER, 
with or without cause. Such notice shall be given to OWNER of the Benefited Property 
as then shown in the records of the Lincoln County Assessor’s Office and such notice 
may be mailed to OWNER at the last known mailing address on record with the Lincoln 

Page 30 of 160



LICENSE AGREEMENT – INN AT ARCH ROCK SIGN     PAGE 3 of 3 
 

County Assessor’s Office. The notice shall be deemed given to OWNER upon deposit 
with the U.S. Postal Service, addressed to OWNER at OWNER’S last known address, 
with sufficient postage.  OWNER shall remove all encroaching structures on or before 
the date of termination.  If OWNER fails to remove the structures, CITY may remove 
them, and charge OWNER for the cost of such removal.    

         
8.  Attorney’s Fees:  In event that either party shall bring suit or action to enforce any 

provision herein, the prevailing party shall be entitled to its reasonable attorney fees 
incurred in this proceeding, including any appeal. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, that parties have executed this License Agreement as of the 
day and year set forth above.  
 
 
CITY       OWNER  
 
 
              
Kathy Short, Mayor     Glenn Petry, Member 
City of Depoe Bay     G&M Arch Rock, LLC 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Melodie Petry, Member 
       G&M Arch Rock, LLC 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:       
      Kimberly Wollenburg, City Recorder 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Exhibit “A”: Survey 
Exhibit “B”: Findings, Conclusions & Final Order for Appeal of Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 160



EXHIBIT "A"

Page 32 of 160



EXHIBIT "B"

Page 33 of 160



APPS APPEAL/2023/#2-VAR-PC-23/FINAL ORDER – APPEAL OF #2-VAR-PC-23 – 20230906  Page 1 of 7 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF 

DEPOE BAY, OREGON 

Appeal of Variance and Sign Permit ) Case File: #2-VAR-PC-23 
In the Retail Commercial C-1 Zone ) City Council Meeting Date: Sep. 5, 2023 

Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPELLANT:  Glenn Petry/G&M Arch Rock, LLC 

APPLICANT:   Same as Appellant 

PROPERTY LOCATION:  The subject sign is located within public right-of-way adjacent to 20 NW 
Sunset Street, which is further identified on Lincoln County Assessor’s Map 09-11-05CA as Tax Lot 91000. 

SUMMARY: The Depoe Bay Planning Commission’s decision approving, with modifications, a Variance 
and Sign Permit to repair a non-conforming freestanding sign within the City’s public right-of-way in the 
Retail Commercial (C-1) Zone (Case File #2-VAR-PC-23) has been appealed to the City Council. The 
existing sign is located within the City’s public right-of-way of NW Sunset Street; is located off-premises 
from the business that it advertises (Inn at Arch Rock); exceeds the 8-foot height limit for freestanding signs; 
and is a sign type (single pole sign) that is prohibited under the City’s sign regulations. 

The appellant asks for the City Council to reverse the Planning Commission’s action, and approve the request 
to repair the existing sign in its current location, size, height, and configuration without any modifications.  

The appeal was filed timely on August 9, 2023, by the appellant. In accordance with the provisions of DBZO 
Section 152.208(B) “Appeals of a Decision of the Planning Commission,” Staff provided the City Council 
with the record of the proceedings via email on August 9, 2023, within ten (10) days of the filing of the 
appeal. The City Council was advised that the public hearing for this appeal would appear on the September 
5, 2023, City Council agenda. The Planning Commission Minutes for the meeting at which the decision was 

Existing/Proposed Sign Location 

Page 34 of 160



Appeal of Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS APPEAL/2023/#2-VAR-PC-23/FINAL ORDER – APPEAL OF #2-VAR-PC-23 – 20230905 Page 2 of 7 

made (July 20, 2023) have not yet been approved by the Planning Commission. Draft Minutes of this meeting 
were subsequently transmitted to the City Council via email on August 29, 2023. 
 
On August 10, 2023, and August 16, 2023, the appellant supplemented his request with additional narrative 
and photographs to demonstrate how the modified sign approved by the Planning Commission would be 
“nearly invisible” to motorists.  
 
On August 16, 2023, notices of the public appeal hearing were mailed to the owners of property located 
within a 250-foot radius of the subject property, as well as to the appellant/applicant and other interested 
parties who had provided oral or written testimony at the July 20, 2023, Planning Commission meeting.  
Notice of the public appeal hearing was also published in the Newport News-Times, on August 18, 2023. 
Public testimony opposed to the placement of the sign within the public right-of-way was received on August 
23, 2023 (from Bill Masella) and August 30, 2023 (from Fran Recht). 
 
On September 5, 2023, the City Council opened and conducted the public hearing. Staff summarized the 
Planning Commission’s decision, and also made recommendations to revise two (2) conditions of approval 
based upon recent input from the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). The appellant provided 
oral testimony via pre-recorded video in support of the appeal, summarizing the issues raised in the written 
appeal. Oral testimony in support of the appeal was also presented in person by the Inn at Arch Rock’s 
general manager, Polly Neet. There was no additional public testimony provided in support of nor in 
opposition to the requested appeal. 
  
At the conclusion of public testimony, there was no request from any interested party for the record to remain 
open. The City Council closed the public hearing and deliberated on the requested appeal. A motion to deny 
the appeal and uphold the Planning Commission’s action with the revised conditions of approval 
recommended by Staff passed on a 4-2-1 vote. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                Survey of Sign Location         Existing Sign 

Page 35 of 160



Appeal of Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS APPEAL/2023/#2-VAR-PC-23/FINAL ORDER – APPEAL OF #2-VAR-PC-23 – 20230905 Page 3 of 7 

RELEVANT CRITERIA:  Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO) criteria that are relevant to this appeal 
are listed by title only below.   

Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance 
a) Sections 152.090-152.103: Signs 
b) Sections 152.170 – 152.173: Variances 
c) Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order for Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 

 
APPELLANT’S ARGUMENT, PLANNING COMMISSION FINDINGS & STAFF ANALYSIS: 
The appeal form (submitted on August 9, 2023) and supplemental narrative (submitted August 10, 2023) 
lay out the bases for overturning the Planning Commission’s action, and approving the replacement of the 
sign in its current location, size, height, and configuration without any modifications: 

 

As reflected in the narrative above, the appellant’s first preference is to allow the sign to be replaced as it 
currently exists, with a second choice to reduce the height of the sign by two (2) feet. The appellant has 
submitted photographs simulating the appearance of an 8-foot-tall freestanding sign as viewed by motorists 
traveling northbound and southbound along N Highway 101. Copies of these photographs are attached to 
tonight’s report. The appellant has also asked to present a video for the City Council’s review during the 
public hearing on September 5, 2023. 

Page 36 of 160



Appeal of Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS APPEAL/2023/#2-VAR-PC-23/FINAL ORDER – APPEAL OF #2-VAR-PC-23 – 20230905 Page 4 of 7 

Planning Commission Finding: In its action on Juily 20, 2023, the Planning Commission found that, by 
reducing the height and size of the sign to comply with the City’s current standards for freestanding signs, 
granting a variance and sign permit to allow the sign to remain off-premises within the City’s right-of-way 
was warranted: 

In deliberating upon the requested variance, the Planning Commission noted that the existing sign has 
clearly been in its current location for decades, and is “iconic” as a local landmark in the community. 
However, regardless of the permitting process (or lack thereof) that the sign was subject to when it was 
first erected, it is non-conforming under the City’s current sign standards for several reasons. The Planning 
Commission expressed a desire to uphold the intent of DBZO Section 152.091(B) that non-conforming 
signs be brought into conformance as they reach the end of their useful lives, with the Inn at Arch Rock’s 
long-time reliance upon the existing sign as both an advertising and a wayfinding device. To this end, the 
Planning Commission determined that, if the existing sign is replaced with a new freestanding or monument 
sign that complies with the provisions of DBZO Section 152.096(B)(4), it could be allowed to remain in its 
current, off-premise location within the City’s public right-of-way. 

Based upon the revised proposal as described above, the Planning Commission finds that the requested 
variance for an off-premise sign in the City’s right-of-way is an exceptional circumstance that does not 
generally apply to other commercial properties in the City’s C-1 zone. Requiring the sign to be modified 
to comply with current standards for freestanding signs is consistent with the standards imposed upon 
other commercial properties in the City, thereby preserving a substantial property right of the applicant 
and reducing conflicts with the sign standards of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance.  The hardship related 
to the requested variance is not self-imposed, nor is it related to a violation of the Zoning Ordinance. 
Therefore, the Planning Commission finds that granting the requested variance for a modified sign in the 
same location, as conditioned, is warranted. 

Staff Analysis: Staff believes that the Planning Commission’s action reasonably balanced the Inn at Arch 
Rock’s need for identification and wayfinding signage with the intent of the City’s sign regulations that 
non-conforming signage be brought into compliance with current standards over time.  

Two (2) of the proposed conditions of approval for the modified sign adopted by the Planning Commission 
dealt with approval by the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), and the execution of a license 
agreement with the City for the use of its right-of-way: 

4. ODOT Review. The applicant will coordinate with ODOT for the following: 
 

a. Prior to the issuance of a building/electrical permit to replace the sign pole, the applicant shall 
obtain ODOT approval of an outdoor advertising sign (OAS) permit for the sign. 

b. Any work in highway right-of-way proposed by the applicant, or required by the City, will require 
the applicant to submit a permit application to ODOT for review and consideration. A permit 
application can be obtained by contacting ODOT’s District 4 Maintenance Permits Office in 
Corvallis at (541) 757-4211. 

  
5. License Agreement. Prior to the issuance of a building/electrical permit to replace the sign pole, the 

applicant shall execute a license agreement with the City for the use of its right-of-way. The terms and 
conditions of such agreement are subject to City Council review and approval. 

 

Page 37 of 160



Appeal of Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS APPEAL/2023/#2-VAR-PC-23/FINAL ORDER – APPEAL OF #2-VAR-PC-23 – 20230905 Page 5 of 7 

The condition requiring ODOT approval of an OAS permit for the sign was based upon input provided by 
ODOT during the completeness review process for the application. However, subsequent to the Planning 
Commission’s action, ODOT determined that the sign is ineligible for an OAS permit under ODOT 
regulations (see attached email chain). ODOT advised the appellant and the City that the City can still 
approve the sign in the existing location on the basis of its own zoning regulations, as the Planning 
Commission did by approving the variance and sign permit for the modified sign. However, ODOT also 
advises that the City cannot accept compensation for the use of its right-of-way for this sign, as this would 
violate ODOT regulations related to the OAS permit process. Therefore, if the City Council approves an 
off-premise sign within the City’s right-of-way, Staff recommends modifying these conditions as follows 
(deletions struck out, additions underlined): 

4. ODOT Review. The applicant will coordinate with ODOT for the following: 
 

a. Prior to the issuance of a building/electrical permit to replace the sign pole, the applicant shall 
obtain ODOT approval of an outdoor advertising sign (OAS) permit for the sign. 

b. Any work in highway right-of-way proposed by the applicant, or required by the City, will require 
the applicant to submit a permit application to ODOT for review and consideration. A permit 
application can be obtained by contacting ODOT’s District 4 Maintenance Permits Office in 
Corvallis at (541) 757-4211. 

  
5. License Agreement. Prior to the issuance of a building/electrical permit to replace the sign pole, the 

applicant shall execute a license agreement with the City for the use of its right-of-way. The terms and 
conditions of such agreement are subject to City Council review and approval, but shall not include 
compensation for use of the City’s right-of-way. 

 
Based upon the City Council’s action at tonight’s public hearing, Staff is prepared to present a draft license 
agreement for the City Council’s consideration on the first available agenda after any appeal period has 
expired. In the meantime, however, Staff recommends that the City Council uphold the Planning 
Commission’s action approving the Variance and Sign Permit for a modified freestanding sign within the 
City’s right-of-way. 

City Council Findings: The City Council finds that the Planning Commission’s approval of a Variance 
and Sign Permit for modified sign, located in the same off-premise location within the City’s right-of-way 
as the current sign, reasonably balances the Inn at Arch Rock’s need for identification and wayfinding 
signage that is visible to motorists on N Highway 101 with the intent of the City’s sign regulations that non-
conforming signage be brought into closer compliance with current standards over time. 

In conclusion, the City Council finds that the bases for the appeal are without merit, and that the Planning 
Commission’s action is upheld, with Condition Nos. 4 and 5 revised as recommended to address issues 
recently raised by ODOT. 

PUBLIC HEARING: A duly-noticed public hearing was held on September 5, 2023, before the Depoe 
Bay City Council. All interested parties were given the opportunity to provide written and oral testimony. 
At the conclusion of public testimony, there was no request for the record to remain open, and the public 
hearing was closed.  
 
PUBLIC TESTIMONY: Written testimony was provided as a part of the Staff report presented to the City 
Council. This included the appellant’s appeal form, supplemental narrative and photographs, and written 

Page 38 of 160



Appeal of Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 
Findings, Conclusions, and Final Order 

APPS APPEAL/2023/#2-VAR-PC-23/FINAL ORDER – APPEAL OF #2-VAR-PC-23 – 20230905 Page 6 of 7 

testimony in opposition to the appeal from Bill Masella and Fran Recht. The appellant and the general 
manager of the Inn at Arch Rock, Polly Neet, provided oral testimony in support of the requested appeal at 
the public hearing on September 5, 2023. 
 
CONCLUSIONS: Based upon the foregoing discussion, public testimony, and City Council deliberations, 
the City Council finds as follows: 
 
A. As modified and with the approval of the requested variance described below, the City Council affirms 

the Planning Commission’s determination that the proposed project is consistent with the sign 
regulations of DBZO Section 152.058. 

B. In deliberating upon the requested variance, the Planning Commission noted that the existing sign has 
clearly been in its current location for decades, and is “iconic” as a local landmark in the community. 
However, regardless of the permitting process (or lack thereof) that the sign was subject to when it was 
first erected, it is non-conforming under the City’s current sign standards for several reasons. The 
Planning Commission expressed a desire to uphold the intent of DBZO Section 152.091(B) that non-
conforming signs be brought into conformance as they reach the end of their useful lives, with the Inn 
at Arch Rock’s long-time reliance upon the existing sign as both an advertising and a wayfinding device. 
To this end, the Planning Commission determined that, if the existing sign is replaced with a new 
freestanding or monument sign that complies with the provisions of DBZO Section 152.096(B)(4), it 
could be allowed to remain in its current, off-premise location within the City’s public right-of-way. 
For the reasons described above, the City Council affirms the Planning Commission’s action approving 
a modified version of the Inn at Arch Rock’s sign.  

C. The City Council finds that the requested variance for a modified, off-premise sign in the City’s right-
of-way is an exceptional circumstance that does not generally apply to other commercial properties in 
the City’s C-1 zone. Requiring the sign to be modified to comply with current standards for freestanding 
signs is consistent with the standards imposed upon other commercial properties in the City, thereby 
preserving a substantial property right of the applicant and reducing conflicts with the sign standards of 
the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance.  The hardship related to the requested variance is not self-imposed, 
nor is it related to a violation of the Zoning Ordinance. Therefore, the City Council finds that granting 
the requested variance for a modified sign in the same location, as conditioned, is warranted. 

ORDER: It is ORDERED by the City Council that the appeal of the Planning Commission’s action 
regarding the approval of a variance and sign permit in Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 has been DENIED, and 
that the Planning Commission’s action of July 20, 2023, approving the requested variance and sign permit 
for a modified sign has been UPHELD, subject to the following revised conditions of approval:  
 
1. Building Permit.  Development shall be accomplished in conformance with the revised plan approved 

by the City Council.  The applicant shall obtain a valid building permit prior to commencement of 
construction. 

2. Sign Permit. The replacement sign shall comply with all provisions of DBZO Section 152.096(B)(4) 
for permanent freestanding or monument signs, including but not limited to: 

a. Single pole signs are prohibited (DBZO Section 152.096(B)(4)(e)); and, 
b. Freestanding and monument signs shall have a maximum 8-foot height, a maximum 10-foot width, 
 and a maximum sign area of 50 square feet (DBZO Section 152.096(B)(4)(f)). 
 

Page 39 of 160



Page 40 of 160



1

planner

From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com>
Sent: Thursday, February 22, 2024 9:26 AM
To: planner
Subject: Further request

I am reques ng that you answer my ques ons of concern in wri ng and those answers be provided to the City Council 
when you send them the full package and advise me that this has been done.  
It is very important that you explain to everyone the logic and the precedent that this sets and why this an -business 
clause is needed. Please also explain why this benefits the City of Depoe Bay.  
 
 
Sent from my iPhone 

Page 41 of 160



1

planner

From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com>
Sent: Wednesday, February 21, 2024 6:20 PM
To: planner
Subject: Re: Review of license agreement 

Thanks for sending this.  
 
I am dumbfounded that you feel “without cause” is warranted. Please elaborate on the “without cause” circumstances 
that you foresee. It is really important to understand what this means. The decision to not allow my 16’ sign has already 
been costly.  
Also please iden fy which city officials are authorized to remove without cause and the procedures that will be followed. 
Are there any other without cause agreements the city has previously authorized or is this the first? It really seems like I 
am being targeted with this nonsensical provision.  
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
> On Feb 21, 2024, at 1:04 PM, planner <planner@cityofdepoebay.org> wrote: 
>  
> Dear Glenn: 
>  
> I've reviewed your comments with the City A orney. We agree that 60 days (rather than 30) is reasonable for 
no fica on to terminate the agreement. We would also suggest modifying Sec on 6 (Indemnifica on, Insurance) to 
require a 60-day no ce of cancella on so as to align with the termina on provisions in Sec on 7. 
>  
> With respect to the other modifica ons you've requested, we believe that these are substan ve requirements for a 
license agreement that require City Council approval for any modifica ons. We intend present the license agreement to 
the City Council on March 19th as a ached. You will have the opportunity to present your arguments in support of 
addi onal modifica ons to the agreement at that me. 
>  
> Sincerely, 
>  
>  
> Kit Fox, AICP (he/him/his) 
> City Planner 
> City of Depoe Bay 
> (541) 765-2361 x15 
> planner@cityofdepoebay.org 
> Tuesdays and Wednesdays only 
>  
>  
> -----Original Message----- 
> From: planner 
> Sent: Tuesday, February 20, 2024 9:08 AM 
> To: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com> 
> Subject: RE: Review of license agreement 
>  
> Thanks, Glenn.  I'll ask the City A orney to review your concerns regarding Sec on 7, and I'll prepare a response. 
>  

Page 42 of 160



2

>  
> Kit Fox, AICP (he/him/his) 
> City Planner 
> City of Depoe Bay 
> (541) 765-2361 x15 
> planner@cityofdepoebay.org 
> Tuesdays and Wednesdays only 
>  
>  
> -----Original Message----- 
> From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com> 
> Sent: Friday, February 16, 2024 11:25 AM 
> To: planner <planner@CityofDepoebay.org> 
> Subject: Review of license agreement 
>  
> I reviewed this agreement with my a orney and he found part of item #7 to be unnecessary and unfair. I would like 60 
days and the termina on to be caused by uncured viola on of the city sign code. 
> As I will demonstrate at the hearing, the loss of the sign has already substan ally hurt my revenue, profits, and value of 
my business. In addi on, I must invest in a lot of money for the new sign. 
> As there is unlikely to be much more building on Sunset Ave, there is never going to be a need for widening the street. 
In addi on, pu ng this clause “without cause” will always put my sign at the whim of city officials and be a cloud on 
ever selling the business. 
> Please revise. 
>  
> Sent from my iPhone 
> <DRAFT Inn at Arch Rock License Agreement (v2).docx> <Ex. A - Survey -  
> Appeal of #2-VAR-PC-23.pdf> <Ex. B - Final Order - Appeal of  
> #2-VAR-PC-23.pdf> 

Page 43 of 160



Page 44 of 160



Page 45 of 160



Page 46 of 160



Page 47 of 160



1

planner

From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com>
Sent: Thursday, January 18, 2024 4:42 PM
To: planner
Subject: Fwd: Arch Rock sign design; Depoe Bay 
Attachments: 377.720 Prohibited signs;.pdf; 377.pdf; 734-060-0190.pdf

As you can see, there is no ODOT requirement. They would have been ok with the original sign. I will be forwarding my 
new sign application before Tuesday.   
If you disagree with their position, let me know. Thanks.  
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: FIRESTONE James C <James.C.FIRESTONE@odot.oregon.gov> 
Date: January 18, 2024 at 3:26:45 PM PST 
To: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com> 
Cc: WAHL Carla S <Carla.S.WAHL@odot.oregon.gov>, DETERING Lynn S 
<Lynn.DETERING@odot.oregon.gov>, LUND Deborah R <Deborah.LUND@odot.oregon.gov>, 
HENDRICKSON Jill M <Jill.M.HENDRICKSON@odot.oregon.gov>, BRATTON Erica 
<Erica.BRATTON@odot.oregon.gov>, WEEKS Kendal J <Kendal.J.WEEKS@odot.oregon.gov> 
Subject: RE: Arch Rock sign design; Depoe Bay 

  
Good afternoon, Glenn. 
  
Here is the information I was able to get for the sign that you called about.  
  
This is the information I received from or outdoor advertising department (highlighted 
response): 
  
Per our information, this sign is located on the city row, and posted without 
compensation, and was considered to be at a place of business, thus would not qualify 
for or be required to obtain an outdoor advertising permit.  
  
The sign owner/ business owner will need to work directly with the city to determine if 
the sign can be rebuilt and under what requirements. The state cannot and would not 
offer any “sign offs”, for a sign at this location. 
  
Any future sign, if rebuilt must not be placed on or overhang the states right of 
way.  The state would not have any size restrictions, and the only thing the state would 
be concerned with, is to ensure the sign complies with all safety and prohibited 
requirements, per attached. 
  
  
The way I understand it from their response, is that with city approval you can rebuild 
the sign as long as it meets the all the ODOT criteria and city requirements. 
(I have attached all the pdfs for those criteria) 

Page 48 of 160



2

  
I have also looped in the ODOT outdoor advertising team to this email so they can 
weigh in and give guidance on your request to reinstall your sign. 
  
As for the district and permits department we would not and are not able to provide a 
permit for a sign that is not in the ODOT Right of Way. So, where this sign located in the 
city’s ROW it is out of my ability to approve or permit. 
  
I hope this helps,   
  
James Firestone 
  
Oregon Department of Transportation 
District 4 Permits 
3700 S.W. Philomath Blvd.   
Corvallis, OR 97333   
541-757-4211 District Office 
541-757-4137 Desk 
Email: James.C.Firestone@odot.oregon.gov 
http://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/HWY/OOM/Pages/permits.aspx 
  
From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2024 11:37 AM 
To: FIRESTONE James C <James.C.FIRESTONE@odot.oregon.gov> 
Subject: Fwd: Arch Rock sign design; Depoe Bay  
  

 

Thanks for your help. Glenn Petry 541-280-0222.   
  
Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Ryan Thomas <rthomas@foresssign.com> 
Date: January 12, 2024 at 11:23:52 AM PST 
To: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com> 
Subject: RE: Arch Rock sign design 

Glenn  
 
Here is the updated drawing. 
 
Ryan 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 

 You don't often get email from gmpetry@msn.com. Learn why this is important  

 This message was sent from outside the organization. Treat attachments, links and requests with caution. Be conscious of the information you 
share if you respond.  

Page 49 of 160



3

From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2024 10:32 AM 
To: Ryan Thomas <rthomas@foresssign.com> 
Subject: Re: Arch Rock sign design 
 
Thanks.  
 
Sent from my iPhone 
 
 
 

On Jan 3, 2024, at 10:08 AM, Ryan Thomas <rthomas@foresssign.com> 
wrote: 

  

Glen  

  

Here is the drawing for mounting the sign to the existing foundation. 

  

Ryan 

  

-----Original Message----- 

From: GLENN PETRY <gmpetry@msn.com>  

Sent: Sunday, December 31, 2023 9:12 PM 

To: Ryan Thomas <rthomas@foresssign.com> 

Subject: Arch Rock sign design 

  

Please get the design asap.  

  

Sent from my iPhone 

<Inn at Arch Rock for perm.pdf> 

Page 50 of 160



Date: March 19, 2024 

To: Depoe Bay City Council 

From: Kit Fox, AICP, City Planner 

Subject: Dedication of SE Shell Avenue Right-of-Way 

On June 14, 2023, the Planning Commission approved a Building Permit (Case File #2-LI-
PC-23) for an 18-unit multi-family development on a 2.40-acre property at the 
northeasterly corner of SE Shell Avenue and SE South 40 Lane. The conditions of approval 
for the project require compliance with the City’s 2017 Transportation System Plan (TSP) 
by constructing a 5-foot-wide sidewalk along SE Shell Avenue. The applicant prepared 
plans for the sidewalk that have been reviewed and conceptually approved by the City 
Engineer. However, in the course of preparing these plans, it was brought to Staff’s 
attention that the existing paved street encroaches onto the property at its northwesterly 
corner. Construction of the sidewalk within the existing public right-of-way would result in 
significant narrowing of the paved street where it enters the City’s boat launch ramp 
parking area to the north. Otherwise, the public sidewalk would need to be partially 
constructed on private property. The first six (6) units of this development are currently 
under construction. 

Sections 152.256-152.258 of the Depoe Bay Zoning Ordinance (DBZO) establishes a 
process for the City Council to consider and accept the dedication of public right-of-
way that is not otherwise a part of a subdivision request. A request letter, draft deed, and 
exhibit depicting the proposed description (as required pursuant to DBZO Section 
152.256) were submitted by the applicant on February 26, 2024. The draft deed is based 
upon a template provided by the City Engineer. The City Engineer has also reviewed and 
conceptually approved the exhibits accompanying the draft deed. 

The applicant’s dedication is made to the City for no direct compensation. However, as 
described in the request letter, the applicant asks to be exempted from the following 
obligations: 

• The City will obtain and pay for a preliminary title report and title insurance policy 
for the property to be dedicated; and, 

• The City will forgo the City Engineer’s recommendation for an engineer’s estimate 
and developer performance bond for the sidewalk. 

The review of the dedication is subject to compliance with the provisions of DBZO Section 
152.257: 

Page 51 of 160



Dedication of SE Shell Avenue Right-of-Way 
March 19, 2024, City Council Meeting 
 
 

APPS C1 & LI BLDG PERMITS/2023/#2-LI-PC-23 HUDNALL/20240319_SE SHELL AVENUE DEDICATION 

(A) The Public Works Director, or other designated person, who shall check the proposal 
for grade and conformance to city road standards; 

• The City Engineer has reviewed and conceptually approved the proposed 
sidewalk plans. 

(B) A title insurance company for a standard preliminary title report; and, 

• As mentioned above, the applicant proposes that the City obtain its own 
preliminary title report and insurance policy. 

(C) The Planning Commission which shall review the proposal for compatibility with the 
city’s Comprehensive Plan, transportation plan, and any adjacent approved tentative 
plans, plats, or maps. 

• Staff believes that the Planning Commission’s previous approval of the building 
permit constitutes a finding of compatibility with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 

DBZO Section 152.258 states that a dedication request “shall be forwarded to the City 
Council along with the application for dedication. The dedicator shall furnish a standard 
title insurance policy insuring title of the dedicated street to the City. A public street will 
not be maintained by the City unless that street is accepted by the City into the City’s 
road system.” 

Staff believes that a cost of a title report and insurance are expected to be negligible, 
whether prepared by the City or the applicant. However, Staff and City Engineer believe 
that it is not in the City’s interest to waive the requirement for an engineer’s estimate and 
performance bond for a sidewalk that will be constructed within public right-of-way. The 
applicant has indicated that if these two exceptions are not granted, they will construct 
the sidewalk within the current public right-of-way of SE Shell Avenue. Due to the existing 
roadway encroachment described above, this is expected to create a substantial 
narrowing of the existing street near the northwesterly corner of the project. 

Attachments 

• Request for dedication 
• DBZO Sections 152.256-152.258 (Dedication of public streets application: review; 

approval) 
• Sidewalk plans 

Page 52 of 160



Page 53 of 160



RETURN RECORDED DOCUMENT TO: 
 

CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
570 SE SHELL AVENUE 
DEPOE BAY, OR 97341 

 
 

GRANTOR: GRANTEE: 
   
  HARBOR LIGHTS, LLC     CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
  9055 SE ENOCH COURT     570 SE SHELL AVEUNE 
  CLACKAMAS, OR 97015     DEPOE BAY, OR 97341 
 
 

DEDICATION DEED 
FOR STREET & UTILITY PURPOSES 

 
Harbor Lights, LLC does hereby dedicate to the public, to be administered by the City of Depoe Bay, a perpetual 
right-of-way for street and utility purposes on, over, across, under, along, and within the following described real 
properties in the City of Depoe Bay, Lincoln County, Oregon: 

 
Attached Exhibit "A" & "B" 

 
To have and to hold the above-described and dedicated rights unto the public forever for uses and purposes 
hereinabove stated. 

 
The grantors hereby covenant that they are the owner in fee simple and the property is free of all liens and 
encumbrances (except a construction loan with Oregon Coast Bank), they have good and legal right to grant 
their right above-described subject to a partial release from Oregon Coast Bank, and they will pay all taxes and 
assessments due and owing on the property. 

 
The true consideration for this conveyance is $ 0.00 .  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand on this day of   , 20  . 
 
 
GRANTOR 

   

Name of Company  Signature 

   

  Printed Name 

Address   

  Title 

   

   

Tax Statement Mailing Address (if different from above)  Signature 

   

  Printed Name 

   

  Title 

 
STATE OF OREGON ) 

) ss. 
County of Lincoln  ) 

 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on   by    
 
    _______________(name(s) of person(s)) 

 
Notary's Signature:_________________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:    

 
 Page 54 of 160



GRANTEE 
 
 
Accepted on behalf of the City of Depoe Bay this    day of  , 20  . 
 

 

Signature 

 

Printed Name 

 

Title 

 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on   by    
 
    _______________(name(s) of person(s)) 

 
Notary's Signature:_________________________ 
 
My Commission Expires:    

 

Page 55 of 160



 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

DESCRIPTION OF A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION 

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 8, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, 

RANGE 11 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF DEPOE BAY, LINCOLN COUNTY, 

OREGON 

 

 

Beginning at a 5/8 inch iron rod at the southwest corner of Tax Lot 941 at the 

intersection of the northerly Right-of-Way line of SE South Forty Lane and the easterly 

Right-of-Way line of SE Shell Avenue located in the Southwest 1/4 Northeast 1/4 of 

Section 8 Township 9 South, Range 11 West of the Willamette Meridian, City of Depoe 

Bay, Lincoln County, Oregon; thence along the easterly Right-of-Way line of SE Shell 

Avenue North 0°40’41” West 217.41 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod; thence continuing along 

said Right-of-Way line North 09°05’55” West 244.57 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod; thence 

leaving said Right-of-Way line North 80°27’12” East 22.63 feet to a point; thence South 

05°49’19” East 166.01 feet to a point; thence along the arc of a 336.00 foot radius curve 

to the right 30.17 feet, the long chord of which bears South 03°15’00” East 30.16 feet, to 

a point; thence South 0°40’41” East 226.17 feet to a point; thence along the arc of a 

20.00 foot radius curve to the left 43.96 feet, the long chord of which bears South 

63°38’20” East 35.63 feet, to a point on the northerly Right-of-Way line of SE South Forty 

Lane; thence along said Right-of-Way line South 53°24’00” West 42.63 feet to the POINT 

OF BEGINNING as shown on Exhibit “B”. 

 

Said dedication containing 4,582 square feet more or less. 

 

The Basis of Bearings for the above-described easement is from  

South “40” Addition, a Subdivision Plat of Record in Lincoln County, Oregon. 

 

DRAFT

Page 56 of 160



S5° 49' 19"E
166.01'

S0° 40' 41"E
226.17'

N0° 40' 41"W
217.41'

N80° 27' 12"E
22.63'

S53° 24' 00"W
42.63'

POINT OF
BEGINNING

(5/8" IRON ROD)

SE
 S

H
EL

L 
AV

EN
U

E
(R

/W
=

60
')

SE SOUTH FORTY LANE (R/W=40')

R=20.00', AL=43.96',
DELTA=125°55'19",
CB=S63° 38' 20"E,
CL=35.63'

N53° 2
4' 00"E 167.13'

(N53° 2
4' E 167.16')

BASIS OF BEARING

N9° 05' 55"W
244.57'

R=336.00', AL=30.17',
DELTA=5°08'39",
CB=S03° 15' 00"E,
CL=30.16'

DEDICATION AREA = 4,582 SQ. FT.
MORE OR LESS

5/8" IRON ROD

5/8" IRON ROD 249.86'

24
8.

94

103.81'

56
.1

3'

119.87'

R=177.39', AL=45.51',
DELTA=14°42'02",
CB=N82° 55' 54"E,

CL=45.39'

EXHIBIT "B"
SKETCH OF A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY DEDICATION

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 NORTHEAST 1/4  OF SECTION 8, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 11
WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF DEPOE BAY, LINCOLN COUNTY, OREGON

THE BASIS OF BEARINGS FOR THE SKETCH ABOVE IS FROM SOUTH "40" ADDITION,
A SUBDIVISION PLAT OF RECORD IN LINCOLN COUNTY, OREGON, AS SHOWN.

DRAFT

Page 57 of 160



§ 152.256 DEDICATION OF PUBLIC STREETS APPLICATION.

   Any person wishing to create a public road or street which is not a part of a subdivision shall make written application to
the City Council. The application shall consist of a letter addressed to the Council requesting acceptance of the dedication; a
dedication deed with a proper description of the proposed dedication signed by all owners of the property being dedicated;
and a map showing the proposed road and property intended to be served by the road.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.257 REVIEW.

   The City Council shall refer the dedication application to the following:

   (A)   The Public Works Director, or other designated person, who shall check the proposal for grade and conformance to
city road standards;

   (B)   A title insurance company for a standard preliminary title report; and

   (C)   The Planning Commission which shall review the proposal for compatibility with the city’s Comprehensive Plan,
transportation plan, and any adjacent approved tentative plans, plats, or maps.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

§ 152.258 APPROVAL.

   The above reports shall be forwarded to the City Council along with the application for dedication. The dedicator shall
furnish a standard title insurance policy insuring title of the dedicated street to the city. A public street will not be maintained
by the city unless that street is accepted by the city into the city’s road system.

(Ord. 24, passed 4-5-1976; Ord. 57, passed 6-4-1979; Ord. 87, passed 3-15-1982; Ord. 111, passed 5-21-1984; Ord. 153,
passed 7-16-1990; Ord. 155, passed 9-17-1990; Ord. 256, passed 4-6-2004; Ord. 287, passed 5-4-2010)

Page 58 of 160



Page 59 of 160



Page 60 of 160



Page 61 of 160



Page 62 of 160



TO:  Depoe Bay City Council 

FROM:  Kim Wollenburg, City Recorder 

DATE:  March 15, 2024, for March 19, 2024, City Council Meeting 

SUBJECT  Lincoln County Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant 

Action Requested:  Council direction to staff regarding which project or item(s) to 
apply for. 
 
Discussion: Last grant period, the Council supported submitting a grant for a 
cache storage unit at City Hall. The grant was awarded and the City was able to 
purchase two smaller cache storage units, which have now been placed at City 
Hall.  
 
Staff offers a few considerations for Council consideration regarding potential 
projects to submit and would like Council direction. 
 

• Purchase another cache storage container (or 2 depending on cost). At 
this point, there is no location finalized for the containers so if they were 
purchased soon after the grant, the only place to store (depending on size) 
is at the wastewater plant. One of the smaller cache containers was stored 
at the plant until recently and sustained some damage to the exterior (rust) 
and a little of the interior (rust on the ceiling and some mold on flooring) 
due to the saltwater spray. Storing cache containers at the treatment plant 
runs the risk of this continuing to happen. 

• Purchase of emergency response-preparedness supplies for City trucks and 
fuel transfer: 

o Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with Transfer Pump 
o Heavy Duty Headlamps 
o Emergency Preparedness Road Supply Kits 
o Emergency Power Supply 

• Establishment of “Do it Yourself” Emergency Preparedness Go Bag/Go Kit 
Program 

 
Budget Impact: Matching funds of $2,500 budgeted in FY 24/25. 
 
Recommendation: Council direction on what to apply for. 
 
Attachment(s): 

• Lincoln County Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant Announcement 
• Emergency supply item ideas for City trucks 
• Emergency Preparedness Cache Storage Program or Go Bag/Go Kit 

Program Ideas & Supplies 

Page 63 of 160



OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF 
Sheriff Curtis L. Landers 

225 W. Olive Street 
Newport, Oregon 97365 

(541) 265-4277 
Fax (541) 265-4926 

 
 

 
 

MEDIA RELEASE 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

 
Date:  March 15, 2024  
Contact: Samantha Buckley, Emergency Manager 
  541-265-4199 
  sbuckley@co.lincoln.or.us  

 
Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant Program Notification 

Fiscal Year 2023-2024 
 
03/15/2024 – Lincoln County 
 
The Lincoln County Board of Commissioners are pleased to announce continuation of the 
local matching grant program for emergency preparedness, disaster response and disaster 
recovery for qualifying entities.  
 
Purpose: 
To provide matching funds to qualifying local entities to purchase emergency 
supplies or equipment (e.g., disaster food items, water purification equipment, 
bedding, cots, sanitation, first-aid supplies, warning radios or other devices, and 
similar supplies or equipment) intended for disaster response or recovery efforts.  
 
Qualifying Entities – all applicants must be in Lincoln County, Oregon 
• City: Incorporated cities 
• Fire: City Fire Departments and Rural Fire Protection Districts 
• Schools: Lincoln County School District, Linn-Benton-Lincoln ESD, Oregon Coast 

Community College, Charter Schools, OSU Hatfield Marine Science Center 
• Ports: Alsea, Depoe Bay, Toledo, Newport 
• Tribes: Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians 
• Water Districts: Lower Siletz, Kernville-GB-LB, Beverly Beach, Otter Rock, Panther 

Creek, Carmel Beach, Devil’s Lake, Seal Rock, SW Lincoln 
• Community: OSU Extension Service 
 

Page 64 of 160

mailto:sbuckley@co.lincoln.or.us


Lincoln County Board of Commissioners 
Grant: Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant Program 
Revised: 03/15/23 
Page 2 of 3 
 
Total Funding Available: 
Lincoln County has made available individual grants up to $2,500 per 
qualifying entity, up to $36,000, for fiscal year 2023-2024. Grants will be 
awarded to approved projects on a first come / first served basis.  
These are one-to-one (1:1) matching grants. 
 
Application Process 
1. Notification: An email announcement of the grant opening will be forwarded by the 

County Emergency Manager to the qualifying entities agency leadership. 
2. Application  

o To be considered for a matching grant, qualifying entities must submit the 
application online. The application is located at 
https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/884/7238/Emergency-Preparedness-Matching-Grant-
Pr  

o A PDF version of the application is available online to review before completing the 
online application. 
 

Completing the Application 
Applicants will provide: 

o Agency demographics, points of contacts, project timelines, list of items to be 
purchased and where they will be stored. 

o Project narrative, including how the requested funds will be used for emergency 
preparedness, response, or disaster recovery efforts. 

o Agency Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) - upload a digital PDF copy of the 
current agency EOP in the digital application form. 
 

Application Timeline  
The application will remain open until all funds are awarded for this fiscal year or until 
May 15, 2024, whichever is sooner.  
 
Award Process 
1. Notification of Award 

a. Notification will be made via email to applicants regarding their application status.  
b. If the project is approved, instructions will be provided. This includes how to 

access funds, final expense reporting and project conclusion with timelines report.  
c. To receive funds early: Complete the Grant Advance Request form if an 

advance is needed. The form will be emailed with the award notification, allow 3 
weeks for payment processing, submit via email to County Emergency Manager. 

d. To receive remaining funds: Complete the Project Financial Final 
Request/Report form once all items have been expensed and submit to the county 
Emergency Manager. Please allow 3 weeks for payment processing. 

e. Funds must be requested by the Awardee by June 7, 2024 to receive payment Page 65 of 160

https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/884/7238/Emergency-Preparedness-Matching-Grant-Pr
https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/884/7238/Emergency-Preparedness-Matching-Grant-Pr


Lincoln County Board of Commissioners 
Grant: Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant Program 
Revised: 03/15/23 
Page 3 of 3 
 

before the end of the fiscal year.  
2. Project Conclusion:  

a. Complete the Final Financial Project Request/Report form and forward to County 
Emergency Manager. 

b. Complete the online Project Conclusion Report to make notification of 
expenditures and project conclusion. 

c. If Awardee is unable to use all their awarded funds for their project and they 
requested advance funds they will be invoiced for the return of the unused 
amount of the match funds.  

d. County Emergency Manager should be notified via email if response or recovery 
supplies are relocated to a new location in future years. 
 

Contact  
• Grant Website: https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/884/7238/Emergency-Preparedness-

Matching-Grant-Pr  All application links and reporting forms are provided on the 
County website. 

• Grant Coordinator: County Emergency Manager, Samantha Buckley, 
sbuckley@co.lincoln.or.us 541-265-4199 

 
### 

Page 66 of 160

https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/884/7238/Emergency-Preparedness-Matching-Grant-Pr
https://www.co.lincoln.or.us/884/7238/Emergency-Preparedness-Matching-Grant-Pr
mailto:sbuckley@co.lincoln.or.us


3/15/24, 12:06 PM 60 Gallon Transfer Tank | Camping World

https://www.campingworld.com/60-gallon-transfer-tank-72927.html?cgid=bed-boxes-fuel-tanks 1/5

___

RV Stabilization & Auto / Automotive Accessories / Bed Boxes & Fuel Tanks

Additional shipping charges may apply.

Due to manufacturer delays, this item will ship within 15 business days

60 Gallon Transfer Tank

     4 Reviews  | Ask a Question Item #: 72927

$904.37 $1,029.99
Save $125.62  12% Off

 Members get up to $45.21 back in points.  Learn More


Ship to Home

Delivery time calculated in checkout



1   A d d  t o  C a r t



FREE shipping over $99.
Good Sam members: FREE shipping over $69. | Join Now

Shop RVs Shop Gear Rent RVs Shop Boats

 
0

Search for products, SKUs, categories... 

1   A d d  t o  C a r t

Page 67 of 160

https://www.campingworld.com/rv-stabilization-auto
https://www.campingworld.com/rv-stabilization-auto/automotive-accessories
https://www.campingworld.com/rv-stabilization-auto/automotive-accessories/bed-boxes-fuel-tanks
javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)
https://www.campingworld.com/on/demandware.store/Sites-CampingWorld-Site/default/Wishlist-ToggleProduct
https://www.campingworld.com/join-goodsam
https://rv.campingworld.com/
https://www.campingworld.com/shop
https://www.rvrentals.com/
https://boats.campingworld.com/
https://www.campingworld.com/shop
https://www.campingworld.com/on/demandware.store/Sites-CampingWorld-Site/default/Stores-ShowGlobalStoreLocator?showMap=false&horizontalView=true&isForm=true
https://www.campingworld.com/cart


3/15/24, 12:06 PM 60 Gallon Transfer Tank | Camping World

https://www.campingworld.com/60-gallon-transfer-tank-72927.html?cgid=bed-boxes-fuel-tanks 2/5

Earn 5,145 points when you use the Good Sam Rewards credit card  Learn More2

Pay in 4 interest-free payments of $226.10. Learn more

Starting at $87/mo or 0% APR with . See if you qualify

Return Policy 

Features 

This aluminum tank is designed for transferring diesel fuel, gasoline or aviation fuel from the bed of a pickup to automobiles, heavy equipment, boats,

4-wheelers, generators, or anything else you may have.

Enjoy the convenience of a gas station that goes where you go. DOT approved aluminum fuel tanks do not rust, which protects fuel from

contamination. This tank can also be used as a diesel auxiliary tank when used in conjunction with the optional Diesel Install Kit (sold separately). It is

the user’s responsibility to comply with local, state and federal requirements pertaining to safe transportation, loading and discharging tank contents.

Made in USA.

Features + Bene�ts:100% pressure tested. Built-in baf�es reduce sloshing. Lockable gas cap. Rollover valve (vent). Includes 3/8"in. FTP drain plug.

Diesel install kits available for diesel gravity feed (sold separately). Diamond plate aluminum. Optional Diesel Install Kits available to easily connect

your auxiliary tank to your truck fuel �ll line (CW# 56511, 85005, or 56512 depending on your truck model). For Diesel Fuel only.

For safety reasons, the �ller neck on RDS fuel tanks prevents them from being over�lled. Actual usable tank capacity is about 95% of the total

advertised gallons due to fuel expansion in warmer climates.

Space saving vertical design

Tank comes with a 2" female pipe thread coupling for manual or 12V transfer pump (not included)

No-rust aluminum construction

D.O.T. Approved for Gas & Diesel Fuel

0.125" heavy-duty aluminum construction

 Installation Instructions

Specs 

Unit Weight 80.00 lb

Brand RDS

MFG Part No. 71212

5.0



4 Reviews, 6 Q&As

Value Quality

Reviews 

Powered by 

Page 68 of 160

javascript:void(0)
https://www.campingworld.com/on/demandware.static/-/Sites-CampingWorldAutobahn-Library/default/dw3440c9e4/manuals/Transfer_Fuel_Tank_Installation_Instructions.pdf
https://www.yotpo.com/?utm_campaign=branding_link_reviews_widget_v2&utm_medium=widget&utm_source=campingworld.com


3/15/24, 12:16 PM RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 …

https://www.northerntool.com/products/rds-aluminum-transfer-fuel-tank-toolbox-combo-with-gpi-12v-fuel-transfer-pump-91-gallon-rectangular-diamon… 1/20

Product Experts Available Now: 1‑800‑221‑0516

CartFind a Store Support Account

Categories Brands Deals

< Fuel Transfer Tanks  /  Item# 349044

RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox

Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-

Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 GPM,

Model# 72855

4.6  (7) Write a Review Ask a Question

0

Search

Add Northern Tool to Home Screen

Page 69 of 160

tel:1-800-221-0516
https://www.northerntool.com/cart
https://www.northerntool.com/
https://www.northerntool.com/categories/fuel-transfer-tanks


3/15/24, 12:16 PM RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 …

https://www.northerntool.com/products/rds-aluminum-transfer-fuel-tank-toolbox-combo-with-gpi-12v-fuel-transfer-pump-91-gallon-rectangular-diamon… 2/20

Click or Tap image to Zoom

How can we improve these images?

$1799.99
 

As low as $168.52/mo. Learn more

Quantity

Save to List

+3 More

Qty: 1 Add to Cart

Page 70 of 160

javascript:void(0)


3/15/24, 12:16 PM RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 …

https://www.northerntool.com/products/rds-aluminum-transfer-fuel-tank-toolbox-combo-with-gpi-12v-fuel-transfer-pump-91-gallon-rectangular-diamon… 3/20

Shipping: 

Factory shipped

Store Pickup: 

Not available - online only

GPI Model EZ-8 12V DC pump draws 11 Amps and has an explosion proof motor for
exceptional durability

No-rust aluminum construction is built to last

Tank and pump are designed for transferring diesel fuel, gasoline or aviation fuel from
the bed of a pickup to automobiles, heavy equipment, boats, 4-wheelers, generators, or
anything else requiring fuel

Tank can also be used as an auxiliary fuel tank using diesel fuel only

DOT Approved Tank

See full description

See Shipping Options

Complete Your Solution

Page 71 of 160



3/15/24, 12:16 PM RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 …

https://www.northerntool.com/products/rds-aluminum-transfer-fuel-tank-toolbox-combo-with-gpi-12v-fuel-transfer-pump-91-gallon-rectangular-diamon… 5/20

RDS Diesel Install Kit for Auxiliary Transfer Tank Conversion, Fits Chevy/GMC 1999-
2010, Model# 011029 $72.99

RDS Diesel Install Kit for Auxiliary Transfer Tank Conversion, Fits 2013-Current
Dodge Diesel Passenger Trucks, Model# 011408 $119.99

This RDS Fuel Transfer Tank/Toolbox
Combo with 8 GPM Pump is designed for
transferring diesel fuel, gasoline or aviation
fuel from the bed of a pickup to
automobiles, heavy equipment, boats, 4-
wheelers, generators, or anything else
requiring fuel that you may have. Tank can
also be used as an auxiliary fuel tank using
diesel fuel only. Enjoy the convenience of a
gas station that goes where you go. A 12V
transfer pump is included and installed. A
toolbox is also built in for extra storage.
DOT approved aluminum fuel tanks do not
rust, which protects fuel from
contamination. This tank can also be used
as a diesel auxiliary tank when used in
conjunction with the optional Diesel Install
Kit (sold separately). It is the user's
responsibility to comply with local, state and
federal requirements pertaining to safe
transportation, loading and discharging tank
contents.

What's Included

(1) Transfer tank/toolbox/pump combo

Downloads

Product Manual

Features + Benefits

Product Summary

Page 72 of 160

https://assets.northerntool.com//products/349/documents/manuals/349044.pdf


3/15/24, 12:16 PM RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 …

https://www.northerntool.com/products/rds-aluminum-transfer-fuel-tank-toolbox-combo-with-gpi-12v-fuel-transfer-pump-91-gallon-rectangular-diamon… 6/20

GPI Model EZ-8 12V DC pump draws 11
Amps and has an explosion proof motor
for exceptional durability

No-rust aluminum construction is built to
last

Tank and pump are designed for
transferring diesel fuel, gasoline or
aviation fuel from the bed of a pickup to
automobiles, heavy equipment, boats, 4-
wheelers, generators, or anything else
requiring fuel

Tank can also be used as an auxiliary
fuel tank using diesel fuel only

DOT Approved Tank

Pump comes installed in the tank

Includes 10ft. hose with 3/4in. nozzle

0.125in. heavy-duty aluminum
construction

Fully welded seams offer built-in strength

100% pressure tested for safety

0.125in. heavy-duty aluminum mounting
brackets keep the tank secure

Built-in baffles reduce sloshing during
transport

Has a rollover valve (vent)

Includes 3/8in. FTP drain plug

Toolbox lid is reinforced with welded lid
braces

2 gas-filled lift cylinders assist in opening
and holding open the toolbox lid

2 stainless steel paddle handles (one
locking) linked together can be opened
from either side

Manual sight fuel gauge is included

Attribute Specification

item# 349044

Brand RDS

Manufacture's
Warranty

12 months
parts/12months
labor

Ship Weight 176.0 LB

Attribute Specification

Finish Diamond Plate

Inlet Port 1-7/8 in

Outlet Port 2 in

Mounting
Hardware
Included

Yes

Key Specs

Page 73 of 160

https://www.northerntool.com/brands/rds


3/15/24, 12:16 PM RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 …

https://www.northerntool.com/products/rds-aluminum-transfer-fuel-tank-toolbox-combo-with-gpi-12v-fuel-transfer-pump-91-gallon-rectangular-diamon… 7/20

Capacity 91 Gal

Shape Rectangle

Material Aluminum

DOT Approved Yes

Compatible With Aviation Fuel

Product Weight 146 lb

How can we improve these key specs?

Customer Submitted Images

   

Write A Review

Reviews

6 out of 7 (86%) reviewers recommend this product

  7 Reviews★★★★★★★★★★ 4.6

Search Reviews and QuestionSearch Reviews and Question ϙ
7

Reviews
18

Questions
20

Answers

Ratings Breakdown

Select a row below to filter reviews.

5★ 5

4★ 1

3★ 1

Page 74 of 160

javascript:void(0)


Page 75 of 160



Page 76 of 160



Page 77 of 160



Page 78 of 160



Page 79 of 160



Page 80 of 160



Page 81 of 160



Page 82 of 160



Page 83 of 160



Page 84 of 160



Page 85 of 160



Things you need for a basic kit:  

• Water, one gallon of water per person per day for at least three 
days, for drinking and sanitation 

• Food, at least a three-day supply of non-perishable food 

• Battery-powered or hand crank radio and a NOAA Weather 
Radio with tone alert and extra batteries for both 

• Flashlight and extra batteries 

• First aid kit 

• Whistle to signal for help 

• N95 respirator masks or cloth face masks for each family member 

• Plastic sheeting and duct tape to shelter-in-place 

• Moist towelettes, garbage bags and plastic ties for personal 
sanitation 

• Wrench or pliers to turn off utilities 

• Can opener for food (if kit contains canned food) 

• Maps for Orange, Los Angeles, and San Diego counties 

• Cell phone with chargers 

• Any prescription medication you (or a family member) requires on 
a daily basis 

 

Page 86 of 160



u, 
.J 
<C-1-z 
w 
u, 
u, 
w 

.J 
::::) 
LL 
w 
u, 
::::) 

.J 
<C z 
0 
u, 
a: 
w 
C. 

Checklist 

Water 

ri
I 

Fire Extinguisher 

warm Clothes and 
Sturdy Shoes 

Sleeping Bag or 
Blankets 

Prescriptions 

I 
Personal Documents 

First Aid Kit 

Manual Can Opener 

Radio (battery oper
ated or hand crank) 

Cellphone Charger 

Treats 

Children's toys 

Flashlight • 
Food 

Cash 

Tools 

• 
Personal Hygeine + 
Sanitation Items 

Pet Items Page 87 of 160



Resource
Items Type 1 - 250 people Cost Type 2 - 200 people Cost Type 3 - 150 people Cost Type 4 - 100 people
Box size and number Three 40 foot conex box $24,000.00 Two 40 foot conex box $16,000.00 Two 40 foot conex box $16,000.00 One 40 foot conex box
General (anything attached or 
added to the conex box)

Carport
Lock security box, (exterior)
Cleaning and Insulation
Fuel box

$4,700.00 Carport
Lock security box, (exterior)
Cleaning and Insulation
Fuel box

$4,700.00 Carport
Lock security box, (exterior)
Cleaning and Insulation
Fuel box

$4,700.00 Lock security box, (exterior)
Cleaning and Insulation
Fuel box

Shelving 15 x shelving kits ($3000) $3,000.00 10 x shelving kits ($2000) $2,000.00 10 x shelving kits ($2000) $2,000.00 5 x Shelving kits
hardware and straps

Electrical (installation) Electrical panel (interior)
Conduit and lines
Weatherheads (electrical)

$6,500.00 Electrical panel (interior)
Conduit and lines
Weatherheads (electrical)

$5,500.00 Electrical panel (interior)
Conduit and lines
Weatherheads (electrical)

$4,500.00 Electrical panel (interior)
Conduit and lines
Weatherheads (electrical)

Generators 3 x Dual Fuel 95kW $3,000.00 3 x Dual Fuel 95kW $3,000.00 2 x Dual Fuel 95kW $2,000.00 2 x Dual Fuel 95kW
Solar 2 x Portable Power Supply

Solar Panels
$2,400.00 2 x Portable Power Supply

Solar Panels
$2,400.00 2 x Portable Power Supply

Solar Panels
$2,400.00 Portable Power Supply

Solar Panels
Tents field deployable, MC Tents

Canopies
$6,000.00 field deployable, MC tents

Canopies
$5,000.00 field deployable, MC tents

Canopies
$5,000.00 field deployable, MC tents

Canopies
Water (Storage) Four Pallets - gal bottles $4,000.00

Three Pallets - gal bottles
$4,000.00

Two Pallets - gal bottles
$3,000.00 One pallet - gallon bottles

Security Cameras
15 x locks

$5,200.00 Cameras
10 x locks

$4,800.00 Cameras
10 x locks

$4,800.00 Cameras
5 x Locks

Food Two Pallets $10,500.00 Two Pallets $7,000.00 two Pallets $7,000.00 One pallet
Communications (radio) Radios 

 See detail worksheet
$7,439.00 Radios 

 See detail worksheet
$4,060.00 Radios 

 See detail worksheet
$4,060.00 Radios 

 See detail worksheet
Information Tech Satellite broadband, cellular 

communication, networking 
switch and box

$2,800.00 Satellite broadband, cellular 
communication, networking switch 
and box

$2,800.00 Satellite broadband, cellular 
communication, networking 
switch and box

$2,800.00 Satellite broadband, cellular 
communication, networking switch 
and box

Climate Control 3 x Dehumidifier $1,500.00 2 x dehumidifier $1,000.00 2 x dehumidifier $1,000.00 Dehumidifier
Fuel Propane (500 gal fixed tank) $3,000.00 Propane (500 gal fixed tank) $3,000.00 Propane (500 gal fixed tank) $3,000.00 Propane (non fixed tank)
Site Improvements Gravel pad

electrical
$9,000.00 Gravel pad

electrical
$8,000.00 Gravel pad

electrical
$7,000.00 Gravel pad

electrical
Sanitation  (infrastructure) 1x 1,500 gallon sanitation tank $2,500.00 1x 1,500 gallon sanitation tank $2,500.00 1x 1,500 gallon sanitation tank $2,500.00

Sanitation (equipment) 2x head $400.00 2x head $400.00 2x head $400.00

Questions? Contact us at OREMGrants@odhs.oregon.govDeployable Resilience Hubs*

Page 88 of 160



Sanitation (shed) Sanitation shed $7,400.00 Sanitation shed $7,400.00 Sanitation shed $7,400.00
Sanitation (Shower, hand 
washing)

Handwashing station $2,000.00 Handwashing station $2,000.00 Handwashing station $2,000.00

Sanitation (water storage) Rain water storage system $600.00 Rain water storage system $600.00 Rain water storage system $600.00
Miscellaneous First aid, 
electrical cords, other)

General equipment and supplies $5,000.00 General equipment and supplies $5,000.00 General equipment and supplies $5,000.00 General equipment and supplies

Hub Totals $110,939.00 $91,160.00 $87,160.00
10% Contingency per Type 
for siting considerations

$11,093.90 $9,116.00 $8,716.00

Total Estimated Costs Type 1 $122,032.90 Type 2 $100,276.00 Type 3 $95,876.00 Type 4
*These packages are also available with out the connex box, General (anything 
attached or added to the conex box), shelving and electrical.

Page 89 of 160



Cost Type 5 - 50 people Cost
$8,000.00 One 20 foot conex box $6,000.00
$2,700.00 Lock security box, (exterior)

Cleaning and Insulation
Fuel box

$2,700.00

$1,000.00 5 x Shelving kits
hardware and straps

$1,000.00

$3,500.00 Electrical panel (interior)
Conduit and lines
Weatherheads (electrical)

$3,500.00

$2,000.00 2 x Dual Fuel 95kW $2,000.00
$1,200.00 Portable Power Supply

Solar Panels
$1,200.00

$3,500.00 field deployable, MC tents
Canopies

$3,500.00

$1,000.00 One pallet - gallon bottles $1,000.00

$3,800.00 Cameras
5 x Locks

$3,800.00

$3,500.00 One pallet $3,500.00
$4,060.00 Radios 

 See detail worksheet
$4,060.00

$2,800.00 Satellite broadband, cellular 
communication, networking switch 
and box

$2,800.00

$500.00 Dehumidifier $500.00
$300.00 Propane (non fixed tank) $300.00

$5,000.00 Gravel pad
electrical

$5,000.00

    

Page 90 of 160



$5,000.00 General equipment and supplies $5,000.00

$47,860.00 $45,860.00
$4,786.00 $4,586.00

$52,646.00 Type 5 $50,446.00

Page 91 of 160



TO:  Depoe Bay City Council 

FROM:  Kim Wollenburg, City Recorder 

DATE:  March 13, 2024, for March 5, 2024, City Council Meeting 

SUBJECT:  Drinking Water Source Protection Grant 

Action Requested:  Council consideration and approval of City applying for a 
Drinking Water Source Protection Planning Grant. 
 
Discussion: The City Council has expressed an interest in exploring ways to protect 
the City’s various drinking water sources and watersheds and has spoken to 
representatives from DEQ, RCAC, and Land Trust. Laura Johnson, from Oregon 
DEQ, has suggested that the City apply for a Drinking Water Source Protection 
funding grant through the Oregon Health Authority. The grant is currently 
accepting Letters of Interest (LOI) through Friday, April 19, 2024. Ms. Johnson has 
offered to assist the City with preparing the LOI and applying for the grant. 
 
The purpose of a planning grant is to help the City determine the best path forward 
and ideas for funding mechanisms that would work best for the City.  
 
Staff discussed with Ms. Johnson any impact on this grant if the City is chosen for 
the EPA Pilot Project through RCAC. Ms. Johnson said that if the City is chosen for 
the project and is awarded a grant, it is easy to modify the scope of work for the 
grant to associate a project that works with or compliments the pilot project. 
Attached are some ideas that the grant would work for in conjunction with the 
EPA Pilot Project or alone. 
 
Budget Impact: There is no matching fund requirement. In the LOI, the City might 
want to list some kind of in-kind donation (i.e., staff time) but no money is actually 
transferred from City. 
 
Recommendation: Council approval for staff to move forward with working with 
Laura Johnson to submit a Letter of Interest for source water planning grant. 
 
Attachment(s): 

• Letter of Interest Application Form and Information 
• Land Conservation Scope of Work 

Page 92 of 160



 

 

 

Page 1 of 11 

 

Oregon Health Authority 
Drinking Water Services 

800 N.E. Oregon Street, Suite 640 
Portland, Oregon   97232-2162 

    
 

FFY-2024 Funding 
Drinking Water Source Protection 

Letter of Interest (LOI) 
Request for Project Proposals 

 

For consideration by the 
State of Oregon 

Drinking Water Protection Fund 
ORS 285A.075 & 285A.213 (4) 

 
Funding is made available under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act section 1452(k) via a Local 
Assistance Set-Aside from the Oregon Safe Drinking Water Revolving Loan Fund Program.  The 
Set-Aside provides grant and loan funding for eligible source water protection project activities. 
 
This 2024 Funding Letter of Interest (LOI) packet will be used to gather project 
proposal requests.  Each LOI received by the close date will be reviewed, rated, and 
ranked.  Funding for eligible projects begins in 2024 based upon overall project 
ranking, disadvantaged community status, and set-aside funding.  Awards must be 
spent two years from the date contracted.  Unspent balances may be subject to 
forfeiture after the contracted deadline. 

 
This request for 

Letters of Interest 
Opens on – Friday February 23rd, 2024 

CLOSES on – Friday April 19th, 2024 
 

Page 93 of 160



 

 

 

Page 2 of 11 

 
The Oregon Health Authority (OHA) is requesting Letters of Interest (LOI) from drinking water systems 
for Drinking Water Source Protection projects for potential funding.  Drinking water systems that submit 
an LOI meeting the project eligibility guidelines may be offered financial assistance to implement various 
drinking water source protection projects or activities. 
 

Source water is the water from the rivers, streams, lakes, springs, and underground sources that 
drinking water systems use to supply communities with safe drinking water.  Drinking water 
source protection involves taking positive steps to manage potential sources of contamination and 
prevent pollutants from entering, reaching, or contaminating sources of public drinking water. 

 

Eligibility and Other Restrictions 
Any Public and Privately-owned Community and Nonprofit Non-Community water systems with a 
completed Source Water Assessment or Source Water Assessment update are eligible for funds. 

A “community water system” is defined as a public water system that has 15 or more service connections 
used by year-round residents, or which regularly serves 25 or more year-round residents.  This includes water 
systems that are owned privately, by non-profit or public entities such as a city, district, or port. 
A “nonprofit non-community water system” is a public water system that is not a community water system 
and that regularly serves at least 25 people (more than 6 months per year) and is legally recognized under 
Oregon law as a nonprofit entity. 
 

• Water systems that have received Drinking Water Source Protection loans and/or grants in each of 
the last two years are not eligible for loans or grants in the current year. 

• Water systems involved with an OHA funded drinking water source protection project that has not 
yet been completed must demonstrate, in their 2024 LOI, an active pursuit of the current project to 
be eligible for funding for an additional project. 

• Water systems that have two open OHA funded drinking water source protection projects that 
have not yet been completed are not eligible for loans and grants in the current year. 

 
Federally owned water systems and for-profit non-community water systems are not eligible for 
Drinking Water Source Protection funds. 

 

Prior to Submitting an LOI 
Applicants are encouraged to contact OHA or DEQ staff identified below with questions regarding project 
ideas and/or project eligibility.  Applicants are also encouraged to review project management 
requirements and other requirements included in Appendix C of the Safe Drinking Water Handbook.  
Questions regarding project funding, contracting, and/or procurement can be referred to Business Oregon 
(contact information available in the Safe Drinking Water Handbook). 
 
1)  Tom Pattee, OHA Drinking Water Services (Springfield), 

ph. 541-684-2440 or by e-mail:  tom.pattee@oha.oregon.gov 
2)  Julie Harvey, DEQ Water Quality Division (Portland) 

ph. 503-229-5664 or by e-mail:  julie.harvey@deq.oregon.gov 
2)  Adam DeSemple, OHA Drinking Water Services (Portland), 

ph. 503-956-8287; or by e-mail:  adam.desemple@oha.oregon.gov 
 
  

Page 94 of 160

https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf
mailto:tom.pattee@oha.oregon.gov
mailto:julie.harvey@deq.oregon.gov
mailto:adam.desemple@oha.oregon.gov


 

 

 

Page 3 of 11 

 
Next Step - after a Letter of Interest is submitted 
Each Drinking Water Source Protection project proposal that’s submitted on an LOI form is reviewed and 
evaluated.  LOIs received from groundwater systems are reviewed and evaluated by OHA Drinking Water 
Services staff.  LOIs received from surface water systems are reviewed and evaluated by the Drinking 
Water Protection staff at the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), Water Quality Division. 
 
Drinking Water Source Protection project submittals will be evaluated based upon five criteria: 

• area and level of sensitivity of the drinking water source, 
• presence of high-risk sources of contamination within the drinking water source area, 
• contaminant detections at the source, 
• prior and current risk reduction activities, and 
• proposed project risk reduction potential 
 

Each scored project is then placed on a numerically ranked Drinking Water Source Protection Project 
Priority List (PPL).  Projects directed at land acquisition planning will be placed on a separate PPL and 
scored for funding through the available Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) funds.  On each PPL, 
projects scoring 60 or more points will be eligible for funding.  For those projects considered eligible for 
funding, additional consideration will be given to disadvantaged communities as defined by OHA-DWS.  
The additional consideration will be in the form of 10 points that will be given to those eligible projects 
that were submitted by water systems from disadvantaged communities.  Projects on both PPLs will then 
be ranked for funding based on total points (project ranking points + disadvantaged community status 
points).  Should there be a tie score between two or more projects, projects from disadvantaged systems 
will be given preference, after which there will be consideration for dividing total available grant funds as 
evenly as possible between surface water and groundwater projects.  OHA Drinking Water Services will 
notify the project contacts of their selection.  Those projects that are ready to proceed to the financing 
phase may begin the funding process with the assistance of staff at Business Oregon.  Information on 
funded project requirements including Business Oregon contact information is available in Appendix C of 
the Safe Drinking Water Handbook. 

 
Project Timeliness and Extensions 
Projects recommended to Business Oregon for funding must be contracted with Business Oregon within 
one year of the recommendation.  If a contract is not reached with Business Oregon within one year, the 
water system forfeits the recommendation and must reapply for funding.  Contracted projects must be 
completed within two years of the day that a funding contract is signed with Business Oregon.  If needed, 
a one-year extension may be granted upon request.  A second one-year extension may be granted pending 
circumstances beyond water system control such as natural disaster, pandemic, and/or project scope 
refinement due to unanticipated costs.  Following two 1-year project extensions, the water system forfeits 
remaining funds and must reapply for funding. 

 
  

Page 95 of 160

https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf


 

 

 

Page 4 of 11 

 
LETTER OF INTEREST 

 

DRINKING WATER SOURCE PROTECTION FUND – FUNDING 2024 (SWP-24-_____) 
 

• Please submit 1 copy of the Letter of Interest.  This may be in an electronic or hardcopy format. 
• You may attach additional sheets to your Letter of Interest to describe your project in response to Section 2. 
• Information on how to complete the LOI is available via the General Information Guide to 2024 Drinking 

Water Source Protection Loans and Grants document. 
• Information on funded project requirements including Business Oregon contact information is available in 

Appendix C of the Safe Drinking Water Handbook. 
 

SECTION 1:  WATER SYSTEM INFORMATION 
 
            
Organization Name PWS ID Number 
 
      
      
Mailing Address (Street/City/State/Zip code) 
 
            
Contact Name Title 
(Person we should contact with project questions) 
 
                  
Phone Number Fax Number Email Address 
 
            
Federal Tax ID Number UEI Number 
 
      
Date SAM (System for Award Management) Registration Expires 
 
* A current UEI number and a System for Award Management (SAM) Registration will be required for all 
accepted funding recipients as well as entities that enter into contracts with a funding recipient (i.e., 
contractors/consultants).  For more information about UEI and SAM see section 5.6 of the Safe Drinking 
Water Handbook.  SAM.gov is an official website of the United States government.  There is no charge to 
register or maintain your entity registration in SAM.gov 
 
Representation (Information may be found at https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/) 
 
            
Senate District Number Senator’s Name 
 
            
House District Number Representative’s Name 
 

Page 96 of 160

https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf
https://sam.gov/content/home
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/


 

 

 

Page 5 of 11 

Background Information 
 

Public Water System Service Population:        
 

Project Area Population (if project is regional or extends outside Drinking Water Source Area):        
 

County where project is to occur:        
Primary Source Water Type that will be protected by project: 

  Groundwater (includes wells and springs) 
  Surface water (rivers, streams, and groundwater under the direct influence of surface water) 

 

SECTION 2:  PROJECT INFORMATION 
 
A.  Project Title:  (e.g., Garnet City Ag Pesticide Round-Up) 
      
 
 
B.  Project Type:  Please refer to the “General Information Guide to 2024 Drinking Water Source 
Protection Loans and Grants” document for more information on eligible project types specific to this loan 
and grant funding cycle.  **New for 2024, funding sources are split into two different categories.  In 
addition to the traditional Drinking Water Source Protection Loans/Grants, Bipartisan 
Infrastructure Law funds are available for land acquisition planning purposes (up to $70,000 per 
grant)**.  Land acquisition/purchases must be done using a Drinking Water Source Protection Loan.  
Mark all that apply below: 

 

Enhanced delineation   Enhanced assessment 
Water quality evaluation  Source protection planning 
Implementation    Security 

 
Are you requesting funds for an Emergency Project? Yes     No  
 

Are you requesting funds for Land Acquisition Planning? Yes     No  
 

Are you requesting loan funds?    Yes     No  
If requesting loan funds, please answer additional questions in Section 3 regarding financing. 
 
 
C.  Describe the Opportunity/Problem:  Clearly describe what risk or contaminant is being addressed and 
what is known about the extent of the opportunity/problem facing the water system.  Opportunities could 
include:  risk reduction benefits; linkage with other projects such as resiliency assessments, 
emergency/spill response planning, TMDL-related outcomes, etc.  Problems might include a history of 
well/surface water intake shutdowns, increased monitoring requirements due to detected contaminants, 
high-risk potential contaminant sources within highly sensitive areas, etc.  To provide the level of 
information necessary for an accurate evaluation, please refer to the “General Information Guide to 2024 
Drinking Water Source Protection Loans and Grants” document for the criteria used in the rating. 
      
 
 

Page 97 of 160

https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx


 

 

 

Page 6 of 11 

D.  Project Objectives, Justification and Goals/Outcomes:  Provide a brief overview of the project 
including the nature and extent of the need(s) to be addressed.  List objectives and describe what is 
expected to be accomplished during the period of the project.  Objectives must relate to the identified 
water quality, quantity, or educational deficiencies and reflect progress in resolving those deficiencies e.g., 
how will the proposed work address the problem(s) identified above in Section C.  If this project is part of 
a larger phased project, describe the overall project, but clearly identify the discrete activities of this phase 
for which funding is sought.  Discuss the effectiveness of each major source water protection strategy to 
address the identified opportunity/problem. 
      
 
 
E.  Project Tasks and Deliverables:  List specific project tasks, deliverables, and milestones for your 
source water protection project.  Tasks must be related to specific project objectives described in part D 
above.  (Example:  If our project is funded, we will; (1) form a protection planning team, (2) complete an 
updated contaminant source inventory, (3) identify best management practices for high-risk contaminant 
sources, (4) develop a contingency plan, and (5) submit plan for DEQ approval). 
      
 
 
F.  Public Awareness:  It is recommended that drinking water source protection projects include an 
element of public awareness if not during, then following closure of the project as part of an ongoing 
effort to educate the public about their drinking water supply and efforts being made to preserve it.  Public 
awareness efforts could include providing basic information about the water source and the relationship 
between your project, drinking water quality, and project success stories.  Outreach could be made 
through public meetings or project summaries included in websites, newsletters, newspaper articles, 
consumer confidence reports, informational kiosks, placards, storyboards, etc…  Discuss how you 
have/would incorporate public awareness into this project. 
      
 
 
G.  Partnerships: 
Is the project described above part of a larger project?  Yes     No  
If yes, will you be seeking additional funding for other project phases?  Yes     No  
If yes, would you like assistance identifying other funding sources?  Yes     No  
 
Use the table that follows to list all other significant organizational project partners and their roles and 
contributions for the discrete activity of the phase for which funding is sought.  If additional rows are 
needed, include as an attachment.  Project partners do not include Oregon Health Authority or Dept of 
Environmental Quality staff.  OHA and DEQ staff provide grant funding and drinking water source 
protection technical assistance as part of their routine duties. 
 
 

Partner 
(i.e., name of organization or 

individual) 

Role 
(i.e., landowner, funder, 

completing specific 
activity/task) 

Contribution Description (i.e., land 
access, cash, technical assistance, 

match contribution.  If cash, indicate 
source of cash, i.e., federal, non-

federal, etc…) 
                  
                  
                  

Page 98 of 160



 

 

 

Page 7 of 11 

                  
                  

 
H.  Multiple Water Systems:  Regional projects involve multiple communities and/or water systems 
attempting to address a common source water issue or issues.  If this is a regional project with additional 
water systems that will be actively involved, please list them in the table below, include contact 
information and grant/loan amount that each will be applying for. 
 

Water System Contact Name Phone Number Grant 
Amount 

Loan 
Amount 

                  $      $      
                  $      $      
                  $      $      
                  $      $      
                  $      $      

 
 
I.  Project Location and Scope:  Describe any other relevant information that will identify the location and 
scope of the proposed project (i.e., is it within 1000 ft of a surface water source or the 2-year time-of-
travel zone/zone 1 for a groundwater source, otherwise identified sensitive areas, high risk sources, 
acreage, landowner consent, etc.  Provide map with project location if needed). 
      
 
 
J.  Previously Implemented Protection Strategies:  Briefly describe any risk-reduction plans or strategies 
previously developed and/or implemented to protect the drinking water source area(s). 
      
 
 
K.  Project Budget:  In the table below, list costs and source of funds.  To degree possible, align budget 
with tasks and milestones listed in Part E.  Examples of budget line items include consultant or labor 
costs, supplies, analytical costs, land surveys, legal publication, permits, equipment, travel, printing, 
postage, etc.  Costs should reflect Bureau of Labor (BOLI) wage rates where appropriate.  If projected 
costs are uncertain, a “contingency” budget line item can be added to the budget. 
 
Note: Administrative or project management expenses incurred by the loan/grant recipient are 
ineligible costs for DWSP funds. 
 

 
Budget line Item 

 

DWSP Funds 
Requested 

Applicant 
Funds 

Other 
Funds 

Total 

                              
                         
                         
                         
                         
                         
                         
                         

Total Project Costs       

Page 99 of 160



 

 

 

Page 8 of 11 

 
Total amount of Drinking Water Source Protection Grant Funds Requested: $      
Total amount of Drinking Water Source Protection Loan Funds Requested: $      
Total amount of funds contributed by the Water System:    $      
Total amount of other funds (detail in funding sources table below):  $      
     Total Project Cost:    $      
 
Project cost estimate Date Prepared:         Prepared by:        
 
Are you aware that costs incurred prior to a signed contract with Business Oregon are not eligible for 
grant funding/reimbursement?       Yes     No  
 
Source of Funds Amount Status (Budgeted, Not 

Budgeted, Committed, 
Application Submitted, 
or Potential Source) 

Date Funds 
Committed or 
Expected 

DWSP Funding              
Applicant Funding              
Other Funds:                     
Other Funds:                     
Other Funds:                     
Other Funds:                     

Total:         
 
Note that, if a project only receives a portion of funding from the Drinking Water Source Protection 
Fund and are combined with additional funds, the following will apply: 
 

• The funded project requirements of the Drinking Water Source Protection Fund will apply to the 
entire project, and 

 
• If the Drinking Water Source Protection funds are used in conjunction with other federal funds and 

the total federal funds used to complete the project are $250,000 or greater, the project will be 
subjected to Build America Buy America (BABA) requirements (see Build America Buy America 
requirements and waiver details in the General Information Guide to 2024 Drinking Water Source 
Protection Loans and Grants document). 

 
  

Page 100 of 160

https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/DRINKINGWATER/SRF/Pages/spf.aspx


 

 

 

Page 9 of 11 

 
L.  Work Plan:  In the table below, list project activity milestones with estimated start and completion 
dates: 
 

Activity Estimated Date 
Start Completion 

                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  

 
 
M.  Procurement of Services: 

 
Are you aware that if awarded DWSP funds, procuring goods or services is the responsibility of the 
eligible water systems and must be done in accordance with state procurement laws [ORS 279A, ORS 
279B and ORS 279C]?     Yes     No  
 
Are you aware that bid documents and resulting contracts must include federally required contract clauses 
and that Business Oregon must review bid documents 10 days before advertising and contracts 10 days 
before signing?     Yes     No  
 
 
N.  Prohibition on Certain Telecommunication and Video Surveillance Services or Equipment: 
 
Will your project use DWSP funds to obtain equipment, systems, or services that will be used for 
telecommunications and/or Video Surveillance?    Yes     No  
 

If “No”, skip to Section 3, if “Yes” continue with following questions: 
 
Are you aware that if awarded DWSP funds, that Federal law [Public Law 115-232 section 889] prohibits 
the use of Federal funds to procure (enter into, extend, or renew contracts) or obtain equipment, systems, 
or services that use “covered telecommunications equipment or services” as a substantial or essential 
component of any system, or a critical technology as part of any system? Yes     No  
 
Can you confirm that you will not be using DWSP funds to pay for any of the following covered 
telecommunications equipment or services?  Yes     No  

• Telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies Company or ZTE Corporation 
(or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities). 

• For the purposes of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security surveillance 
or critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video surveillance and 
telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera Communications Corporation, Hangzhou 
Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any subsidiary or 
affiliate of such entities). 

Page 101 of 160

https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors279A.html
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors279B.html
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors279B.html
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors279C.html
https://www.congress.gov/115/plaws/publ232/PLAW-115publ232.pdf


 

 

 

Page 10 of 11 

• Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using such 
equipment. 

• Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or provided by an 
entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director of the National Intelligence 
or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, reasonably believes to be an entity owned or 
controlled by, or otherwise connected to, the government of a covered foreign country. 

 
SECTION 3:  FINANCING INFORMATION (FOR LOAN REQUESTS ONLY) 
 
If the project is requesting loan funds for purposes including but not limited to land acquisition/purchase, 
complete the following loan information, otherwise skip to Section 4. 
 
A. Source of funds for Loan repayment (check all that will apply): 

 Water-user fees   Voter-approved General Obligation bond         Connection fees 
 Reserves  Other funds:       

B.  Regarding cash flow, please check the frequency of funds available for debt repayment on requested 
loan: 

 Monthly 
 Quarterly 
 Annual 

 
C. Total debt supported by the water system rates, fees, taxes, or special assessments: 

1. Current debt paid by water fees   $      
2. Current debt paid by property taxes   $      

 
D. Current average monthly residential water bill (based on 7,500 gallons)   $      
 
E. Current average annual property taxes paid per residence for water system debt   $      
 

  

Page 102 of 160



 

 

 

Page 11 of 11 

 

SECTION 4:  LETTER OF INTEREST CERTIFICATION 
Certification: I certify to the best of my knowledge that all information contained in this Letter of 
Interest and any attached supplements is valid and accurate and that I am aware of the Drinking Water 
Source Protection funded project requirements as identified in Appendix C of the Safe Drinking Water 
Handbook.  I further certify that to the best of my knowledge: 
1. The Letter of Interest has been approved by the governing body or is otherwise being submitted 

using the governing body’s lawful process, and 
2. Signature authority is verified. 
 Check one: 
  Yes, I am the highest elected official. (e.g., Mayor, Chair or President) 
  No, I am not the highest elected official, so I have attached documentation that verifies my 

authority to sign on behalf of the applicant.  (Document such as charter, resolution, ordinance, or 
governing body meeting minutes must be attached.) 

 
             
Signature  Date 

             
Printed Name  Printed Title 

 
Return Completed Letter of Interest to: 
 
Oregon Health Authority-Drinking Water Services 
Attn: Tom Pattee – 2024 DWSP Letter of Interest 
2080 Laura St 
Springfield, Oregon 97477 
 
Email:  tom.pattee@oha.oregon.gov 
Telephone:  (541) 684-2440 
Fax:  (541) 465-2914 
 

Page 103 of 160

https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/biz/Publications/SDWhandbook.pdf
mailto:tom.pattee@oha.oregon.gov


Land Conserva�on Planning Project 

Grant could seek support for some or all of these poten�al tasks/ deliverables  

• Informa�on gathering— 
o  Tax lot mapping and analyses in the watershed (analyses evaluates parcels for factors such 

as erosion poten�al/ runoff poten�al/ recent landslides, steep slopes, road network 
analyses, history of parcel, try to assess historic harvest data or understand when next 
harvest may happen, iden�fy conserva�on species of concern, look at water rights) 

o  GIS support 
o  Hydrologic analyses in the watershed / watershed modeling (as needed) 

• Priori�za�on 
o Determine priority areas for conserva�on in regards to risk, mul�ple benefits 
o Help community develop plan/ strategy for conserva�on 

 acquisi�on versus easements 
 long term management needs  

• Determining Willing Sellers/Collaborators 
o Outreach / communica�on to private industrial forest owners to determine their willingness 

to partner with communi�es for land conserva�on  
o Iden�fy smaller landowners and explore outreach needs and op�ons for stream/riparian 

protec�on 
• Es�ma�ng Costs 

o obtain ini�al es�mates of land (�mber companies may have recent �mber cruise data 
available)  

o Appraisal-level inventory (for offer and agreement) 
o  Yellow Book appraisal for final price determina�on 

• Funding—iden�fying grants and loans 
o Research and analyses support (produce document that explains overlap of conserva�on 

goals in the watershed with other planning documents in that area: state and regional plans, 
habitat conserva�on species strategies/ plans, state or federal agency plans/ priori�es, 
community parks and recrea�on, carbon sequestra�on) – use this to iden�fy poten�al 
sources of grant funding for implementa�on and to dra� language for funding applica�ons/ 
grants  

o Evalua�on for CWSRF eligibility – explore eligibility and poten�al to receive principle 
forgiveness  

o Iden�fy funding sources (grant/ low-interest loan) for land conserva�on / iden�fy 
requirements of funding sources in advance (i.e. how recent does appraisal have to be at 
�me of applica�on, etc.) / dra� language for grants  

o Iden�fy bridge buying partners/ help building partnerships  
o Story mapping –build a compelling story with maps and images 
o Support with grant wri�ng 

• Funding —iden�fying City funding op�ons  
o Support for: 

 Rate study 
 Financial audits 

Page 104 of 160



 Median Household Income Survey 
o Community outreach and con�nued educa�on with customers/ rate payers to gain support 

or build awareness of land conserva�on goals 
• Acquiring land or easements 

o Legal support and analyses / property transac�on support / due diligence 
• Administra�ve support: 

o Support with grant administra�on/ repor�ng 
o Help with iden�fying contractors/consultants 
o Support with providing sample documents and template Requests for Proposals 

Page 105 of 160



TO:  Depoe Bay City Council 
 

FROM:  Kimberly Wollenburg, City Recorder and Brady Weidner, Public Works 
 Director 
 

DATE:  March 19, 2024, City Council Regular Meeting 

SUBJECT:  City-Wide Projects Memo 
 

Update on Projects:  
There are many tasks currently in progress within the City in addition to the 
daily/regular tasks of customer service and other duties.  
 
Regularly included with this update is a separate document from the City 
Engineer regarding projects they are working on and the status. Additional 
updates will be provided below as needed. 
 
Administration 
Events: 2nd Annual Special Olympics Polar Plunge – March 23, 2024 from noon to 
1:30 PM. 
 
Grants: Several grant potentials identified in this packet. 
 
Technology, Audio & Security Upgrade Project: Working with National Business to 
transfer service. The wrong monitors were ordered – they ordered an oversized 
monitor instead of the two regular sized monitors. Laptops have been delivered, 
and staff is working with COG on getting the system set up. 
 
Financial 
Audit: Request for Quote for new auditor closed with no submissions. Staff went 
out for another quote and sent a bunch of email invitations to auditors with a 
new closing date of March 31st.  
 
Budget: Have set up meetings internally for department “wish” lists. Working on 
quotes as needed. 
 
Legal 
Castanada: Currently in discovery phase and working with insurance provider 
and outside counsel. 
 
Harbor 
Harbor Restoration Project: Pre-construction meeting was held on March 7 and a 
tentative schedule was provided. A more detailed, closer to the set times, will be 
provided after contractor has discussions with harbor staff regarding staging of 
boats and equipment. 
 
Dock Leases: Under review by the Harbor Commission. 
 
 
 

Page 106 of 160



Depoe Bay City Council  Page 2 
March 19, 2024 
 
 
General: Staff took a tour of the fish plant and will be providing a report at a later 
date. Crew is working on getting the finger docks ready for installation with 
installation beginning this past Friday. 
 
Water 
Collins Water Line Replacement: Staff have ordered pipe and fittings for Collins 
project. Discussing with City Engineer for a quote for the construction next budget 
cycle. 
 
Foundation/Filter Replacement: See separate cover and reports. 
 
Potable / Culinary Wells Project: The last step is testing the water, which has to be 
done on a Wednesday. Oregon Health Authority said we have until spring 2024 to 
test. The plan is currently to do the testing in April. 
 
North Tank Painting: Staff received a quote; however, the amount is too high and 
out of budget so additional research is required. 
 
General: Majority of work has been due to rereading meters and dealing with the 
normal issues that come up after billing. The water line upgrade on Winchell to 
support the Cedar Hills project is done. 
 
Wastewater 
Catwalk Repairs: Survey to be completed the week of March 22. Final design and 
bid quote will follow. 
 
Grit Pump & Auger System – Contacting contractor to check on status of repair 
and quote. 
 
Cyclone Fence – Crew have been working on getting quotes for replace all or 
part of the fence around the plant. An initial quote of $125,000 to $160,000 was 
received. Crew is continuing to explore potential options at a better price point. 
 
General: Staff at the wastewater plant is now down to one crew member. The 
Public Works Supervisor is filling in until the City has hired a replacement. City plans 
to go out for a replacement the week of March 18th. Crew is evaluating various 
blowers and is working on replacing the drive at the Harbor Lift Station that failed 
during the storm. 
 
Streets 
Lingcod Parking Lot: Complete and now open. 
 
Bay Street Improvements Project – Survey of 
site and Coho parking lot done the week of 
March 5. Waiting for final design and RFP. 
 
Heiberg - Crew temporarily set sandbags to 
control the flow of water. Crew is working with 

Page 107 of 160



Depoe Bay City Council  Page 3 
March 19, 2024 
 
the City Engineer to design a berm. The work will be done once weather has 
warmed up enough for hot mix to be made. 
 
Storm drain ditch maintenance: Work continues to be done as time and weather 
permits to clean out storm drains and ditches. 
 
Street Overlays – Floral, Briscoe, Lane, and Lange have been completed. By the 
time of the meeting, Crescent will be done. 
 
General: Trees along Briscoe need to be trimmed and is on the schedule. Most of 
the work as time and weather permits is with the storm system and fixing potholes 
and filling gravel areas as needed. 
 
Parks 
Big Tire Park: No new updates. City Engineer will be on site April 5 to review site in 
detail to consider options. 
 
North Bridge Replacement: Waiting for final drawings and plan to go out for 
quotes. See attached memo regarding the bridge. 
 
Woodmark Restrooms: Crew is waiting for the divider panels for men’s side that 
need replacement come in. There is also replacement of the woman’s door 
planned due to wear and tear. Crew reaching out to Woodmark regarding the 
need for a water heater and addressing the rotting interior walls.  
 
Winchell Lookout: Contractor will begin work mid-March. 
 
Resurface Park Playground: Staff continues to solicit quotes to redo the surface at 
the City Park playground to remove/replace the same for a better, safer and 
easier to maintain surface. 
 
Community Hall Upgrades: New cabinets are on order but delayed. 
 
Community Hall Back Deck Overhang: Staff is contacting a contractor to get a 
baseline quote before beginning contracting process to remove/replace the 
back deck overhang to raise it higher. This project was budgeted. 
 
Ellingson Street Open Space: Discussion with City Attorney who recommended 
the City send a letter to the property owner requesting them to remove the fence 
that encroaches on the City right-of-way in a first attempt to address. Letter has 
not been sent yet. 
 
Katy Roe Memorial: Reached out to family to determine next steps for removal 
and placement of new memorial bench (once location determined and 
approved by Council). No new action at this time. 
 
General: Crew has researched ideas to replace the steps in the ravine on the 
nature trail up at Indian Trail Road. Will schedule with County work crew to do the 
work early to mid-April.  

Page 108 of 160



CITY OF DEPOE BAY 
2024 LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY 

 

LAND USE & BUILDING PERMIT ACTIVITY/2024 

February 2024 
 

Date Applicant Type of Activity Zoning 
District 

Location Description Status/Comments 

2/3/24 Dave Blanchard Building Permit 
(#4-R4-24) 

R-4 09-11-08-BA-00100 
50 E Collins St. 

Detached garage Under review 

2/12/24 Hills of Depoe 
Bay LLC 

Planned 
Development 
(#1-PD-PC-24) 

C-1 & 
R-1 

09-11-05-B0-01200 
1032 N Hwy. 101 

Preliminary Plan for 
Whale Watch Phase 2 

Complete 

2/13/24 Hills of Depoe 
Bay LLC 

Planned 
Development 
(#2-PD-PC-24) 

R-2PD 09-11-05-AB-00900 to 
-01900 & -02700 
NE Seascape Ave. & 
NE Moonwake Ln. 

Amendment to Depoe 
Hills Phase 1 

Complete 

2/15/24 Charissa 
Thornley/Adair 
Homes 

Miscellaneous 
Hearing 
(#1-MSC-PC-
24) 

R-4PD 09-11-17-BC-05000 
260 SW Midden Reach 

Wetland delineation 
for new residence and 
garage 

Incomplete 

2/20/24 Jim Franck Building Permit 
(#5-R2PD-24) 

R-2PD 09-11-05-AB-02100 
1114 NE Marmoris 
Ave. 

New residence and 
garage 

Under review 

 
• City Council meeting on February 6, 2024: 

o Received the Planning Commission Liaison report for January 2024. 
o Adopted Resolution No. 558-24 revoking initiation of the vacation of the Cove View right-of-way on North Point. 
o Received a report about a complaint related to T-Mobile antennae attached to the Travelodge on N Hwy. 101. 

• Planning Commission meeting on February 14, 2024: 
o Conducted the following public hearings: 
 Approved a geologic hazard report (Case File #4-GEO-PC-23) for new residence on NE Stanley St. 

o Approved building permit for new duplex townhouse development (Case File #5-C1-PC-23) on NE Williams Ave. 
o Approved building permit for replacement of former pump canopy (Case File #1-C1-PC-24) at 411 S Hwy. 101. 

• City Council meeting on February 20, 2024: 
o Interviewed and appointed two candidates for Planning Commission: C.A. White, Jr. and Scott Whitmire. 
 

Page 109 of 160



City of Depoe Bay – Engineering Services 

AKS Job# 10004 

Meeting Notes  

Date: 3/13/2024 

Attendees: Kim/Brady/Paul -CIty; Deza/John - AKS 

1. General Engineering Tasks 

a. AKS to schedule site visit (4/5/2024) 

i. Williams, Edgewater, Little Whale Cove PS, Cache sites, rest rooms in the harbor, Big 

Tire park (vacation didn’t move forward, neighbors didn’t want the property), Collins 

Street sewer extension.  

b. City updates 

i. Water treatment plant – soils report shows subsurface soils are incompetent. Partial 

building demo would be too impactful so a new building needs to be constructed. New 

plant will be constructed in the parking lot adjacent to Collins. Kim will send AKS reports. 

Kim will talk with the City’s grant writer.  

2. Plan Review 

a. Lane Street – Comments received from ODOT 2/1/24 - Our design can be approved. ODOT 

wants to know how the other deficiencies will be addressed - Kim to follow-up with Developer. 

b. Shell Ave – Update on right-of-way dedication? 3/19/24 - City will approve the dedication.   

c. The Hills/Whale Watch – Received additional documents from developer/engineer on 1/16/24. 

AKS reviewing submittals. Send Kim the drop box link.  

d. Big Whale Cove – Waiting on developer/engineer response. Per Brady, developer/engineer is 

looking at approvals for crossing of federal land. No update from developer  

e. Whale Watch Phase 2 –Preliminary – AKS will have review letter to Kit by EOD 3/13/2024 

f. #1-Geo-PC-24 – AKS will have review completed no later than 3/27/2024 

g. S HWY 101 Affordable Housing - AKS will have review completed no later than 3/27/2024 

3. Bay Street Sidewalk – Field survey complete – 3/8/2024 - Drafting in progress; design to follow. Kim 

mentioned the City does not want this work done during peak tourist season.   

4. WWTP Catwalk – Field survey complete – 3/8/2024 - Drafting in progress; design to follow. 

5. Timber Bridge – Memo provided to City on 2/14/2024 

6. HWY 101 Bridge water pipe hangers – Low priority – City to reply to ODOT w/ intent to provide brackets 

in time for construction 

7. Coho Parking Lot – Field survey complete – 3/8/2024 - Drafting in progress; design to follow. 

8. Rocky Creek Intake – On hold until further notice 

9. Eastridge – Update from City attorney – Kim will follow-up. 

10. Bensell Ave/Vista Terrace – AKS finalizing task order 

11. GIS – Licensing memo submitted to City 2/14/2024; Depoe Bay was contacted by RCAC (Rural 

Community Assistance). Brady will need support to reconcile the data collected by Tui.  

12. Lead Copper Rule – Next steps? 

13. Design Standards – Long term item 

14. Impound Property PLA –  

a. Survey completed 3/5/2024. Mapping in process –  

b. CA White request/agreement 

i. Need engineer (Morgan) to provide profile of road improvements and sewer extension  

ii. Water main – City is responsible for installing? 

iii. AKS to send City the ORS regarding sewer extension requirements.  

Page 110 of 160



15. Edgewater PS – Brady to send pictures – Status? Brady wants a structure over the pump house (tuff 

shed).  

16. DEQ Outfalls – resolved no further action needed.  

17. Pump Station – Little Whale Cove – Does this system have capacity to accept additional flows? Brady 

doesn’t like the pumps in this system. Summer 2024 look at this pump station for capacity and 

improvements. System installed in 1970s. 

 

  

Page 111 of 160



 

 

 

Date:  2/9/2024 
To:  Kimberly Wollenburg, Recorder, City of Depoe Bay 
From:  John Christiansen, PE 
Project Name: City of Depoe Bay – Trail Timber Bridge Improvements 
AKS Job No.: 10004-05 
Project Site: Depoe Bay, OR 

Subject: Summary of Existing Conditions of Trail Bridges 
 
 

Introduction 
Within Depoe Bay City Park, South Depoe Bay Creek Trail generally parallels South Depoe Bay Creek and 
includes two timber trail bridge crossings over the creek. Each bridge consists of two cedar stringers, 
hemlock decking and railings, and steps capping each end. The City of Depoe Bay (City) requested AKS 
Engineering & Forestry, LLC (AKS) prepare recommendations for replacement of decking, handrails, and 
steps as well as provide a cost estimate for the improvements. The purpose of this memorandum is to 
document our response to this request.  

Review of Existing Conditions 
Site Visit 
AKS visited the site on May 18 and August 18, 2023 to document the conditions of the existing bridge 
structures. Refer to Appendix A for photos of the existing bridges. The following observations were 
made: 

• General Description of Structure – The structure of the timber bridges generally follows the 
USDA Forest Service guidelines for timber bridges. Each bridge is comprised of 2 timbers placed 
lengthwise over the creek. ¾-inch rods extend through the timbers and are spaced at 
approximately 7-ft on center. Rods are finished with a 3-inch square steel plate and a nut. Bridge 
abutments appear to be gabion style (wire mesh filled with large angular rock) with a braided 
cable connecting the timbers to the abutment. The dimensions of the abutments could not be 
verified during the site visit. 

• Timbers (Stringers) – The geometry and configuration of the bridge timbers provided below in 
Table 1. During the site visit, core samples were taken of each timber at mid-space using an 
increment borer. Samples showed minor degradation around the outside of the timber however 
the logs remain largely in good condition. 

• Decking – Deck boards are nominally 4”x12”. Rolled roofing material has been applied to the 
entire deck. We presume the roofing material was installed to improve traction, however, the 
material prevents the deck from seasonal drying which has resulted in significant rot of the 
decking. Furthermore, there are no measurable gaps between the boards (USDA FS recommends 
3/8” gaps) which further exacerbates the decay of the decking. During the site visit a deck board 
was easily removed, leaving the lag bolt in the timber. All decking material should be removed 
and replaced.  

Page 112 of 160



 

 
City of Depoe Bay – Trail Timber Bridge Improvements 
Summary of Existing Conditions 

October 20, 2023 
Page 2 

 

• Handrail – Handrail is provided along the full length of both bridges. The handrails is 
approximately 42-inches tall with 4x4 posts spaced approximately 7 foot on-center and 2x2 
(nominal) balusters installed 6-inches on-center. 2x6 planks extend along the outer edge of the 
posts and balusters and are also used to cap the handrail. Posts are connected to the timbers 
with 4x4 blocking and a lag bolt as well as angle iron mounted under the deck. We recommend 
replacement of handrail system due to post spacing exceeding spacing recommendations from 
USDA FS (5 foot on-center maximum) and inadequate blocking.  

Table 1 North Bridge (2 Timbers)  South Bridge (2 Timbers) 

 
Diameter (inches)  Diameter (inches) 

East End West End Mid-Span  East End West End Mid-Span 

North Timber 12.0 16.8 14.4  10.8 16.8 13.8 

South Timber 16.8 9.6 13.2  16.8 9.6 13.2 
        
Overall Length (ft) 45.0    48.0   

Span Length (ft) 29.0    39.0   

Deck Width 3.9    3.9   
 

Analysis of Existing Timbers 
The USDA Forest Service provides standard plans and criteria for the construction of timber bridges. AKS 
evaluated the existing timber stringers against these standards to determine whether they meet the 
given criteria. 

• Number of Stringers: The existing timber trail bridges were constructed with two stringers. 
According to the USDA Forest Service, multiple log stringer trail bridges must have a minimum of 
three stringers. 

• Mid-Span Diameter: The table below summarizes the minimum required mid-span diameters of 
the timber stringers according to Table-1 on USDA Forest Service standard drawing STD_961-20-
03a. The existing stringers do not meet the minimum dimensional requirements recommended 
by USDA Forest Service.  

 
  

Page 113 of 160



 

 
City of Depoe Bay – Trail Timber Bridge Improvements 
Summary of Existing Conditions 

October 20, 2023 
Page 3 

 

AKS determined that the existing timbers (stringers) do not meet several criterion of the USDA Forest 
Service design standards. If the City wishes to replace the decking and handrails, while preserving the 
timbers, it should be done with the acknowledgement that the timbers do not meet the structural 
requirements for the existing spans.  

Recommendations for Rehabilitation and Project Cost 
Construction Plans 
Standard trail bridge construction plans, originally published by USDA Forest Service and modified by 
AKS, dated 10/20/2023, including details for the handrails and decking are included in Appendix B of this 
memorandum. 

Project Cost 
The cost to complete the replacement of the decking, railings, and steps for both timber trail bridges is 
anticipated to be approximately $70,000. A detailed Engineer’s Estimate is included in Appendix C of this 
memorandum. 

Page 114 of 160



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A: Site Visit Photos 
  

Page 115 of 160



AKS Engineering and Forestry, LLC   Project:  Timber Bridge Assessment Project # 10004-05    Page _1_ of _3_ 
 
 
x 
  

Photo 3 Comment: North Bridge – Typical handrail 
connection and connecting rod

 
 

Photo 1 Comment: South Bridge

 
 

Photo 2 Comment: North Bridge 

 

Photo 4 Comment: North Bridge – Typical end  

 
 
 
 

Page 116 of 160



AKS Engineering and Forestry, LLC   Project:  Timber Bridge Assessment Project # 10004-05    Page _2_ of _3_ 
 
 
 
 
  

Photo 3 Comment: South Bridge - Deck board removed 

 

Photo 1 Comment: Typical bridge abutment 

 

Photo 2 Comment: Typical bridge abutment

 
 

Photo 4 Comment: South Bridge - Deck board removed 
 

 

Page 117 of 160



AKS Engineering and Forestry, LLC   Project:  Timber Bridge Assessment Project # 10004-05    Page _3_ of _3_ 
 
 
 
 
  

Photo 3 Comment:  
 

Photo 1 Comment: Handrail post connection to timber 

 

Photo 2 Comment:  
 

 

Photo 4 Comment:  
 
 

Page 118 of 160



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B: Construction Plans for 
Trail Timber Bridge Improvements 

  

Page 119 of 160



U
S

 H
W

Y
 101

DEPOE BAY

P
A

C
IF

IC
 O

C
E

A
N

SE BAY ST

B
A

Y
V

IE
W

 A
V

E

SE WINCHELL ST

A
IN

S
L

E
E

 A
V

E

Newport

SALEM

CONSTRUCTION PLANS FOR

10/20/23

OF1NO SCALE900-GENERAL

STD_900-01TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS
TTL

TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS

CITY OF DEPOE BAY, OREGON
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK NATURE TRAIL

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

9Page 120 of 160

irvingd
Cloud



STANDARD TRAIL PLAN
10/20/23

OFNO SCALE900 - GENERAL

STD_900-02TRAIL MAP - BRIDGE LOCATIONS
2VCM

CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 121 of 160



STANDARD TRAIL PLAN
10/20/23

OFNO SCALE900 - GENERAL

STD_900-03GENERAL NOTES
3GNT

CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 122 of 160



STANDARD TRAIL PLAN
10/20/23

OFNO SCALE900 - GENERAL

STD_900-04WORK LIST
4WKL

CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 123 of 160



936 - STAIRWAYSSTANDARD TRAIL PLAN
10/20/23

OF

STD_936-40-01
NO SCALE

STAIRCASE

ELEVATION VIEW

FRONT VIEW

CARRIAGE DETAIL

THREE CARRIAGE OPTION

STAIRCASE

5STC

CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 124 of 160



961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGESTANDARD TRAIL PLAN
10/20/23

OF

STD_961-20-01

6 9NOT TO SCALEMLS

STRUCTURE TABLECITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 125 of 160



961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE

STANDARD TRAIL PLAN OF

STD_961-20-02a

NOT TO SCALE
STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE

MULTIPLE LOG 

MLS 7

10/20/23CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE MLS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 126 of 160



961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE

STANDARD TRAIL PLAN OF

STD_961-20-03a

NOT TO SCALE
STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE

MULTIPLE LOG 

MLS 8

10/20/23CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE MLS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 127 of 160



961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE

STANDARD TRAIL PLAN OF

STD_961-20-04

NOT TO SCALE
STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE

MULTIPLE LOG 

MLS 9

10/20/23CITY OF DEPOE BAY
SOUTH DEPOE BAY CREEK TRAIL
TIMBER BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 961 - LOG STRINGER TRAIL BRIDGE MLS 9

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

Page 128 of 160



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix C: Engineer’s Estimate 
 

Page 129 of 160



PRELIMINARY CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATE

Prepared For: City of Depoe Bay

Prepared By: JPC

Job # 10004‐05

Date: 2/14/2024

Bridge 1

Length =  45 FT

Width =  4 FT

Unit Qty Unit Price Total

Demolition

Dump Fee LS 1 500.00$           500.00$          

Hand Rail

Lumber ‐$                 

4"x6" Post @ 5' O.C. EA 22 115.00$           2,530.00$       

2"x6" Rail ‐ 3 layers LF 270 5.00$                1,350.00$       

2"x8"Rail Cap LF 90 6.00$                540.00$          

8"x8" blocking EA 22 50.00$              1,100.00$       

Hardware

#10 x4" Wood Screws LS 1 100.00$           100.00$          

5/8" x6" bolt (2@each post) EA 44 5.00$                220.00$          

4"x4"x1/4" angle at each post EA 22 10.00$              220.00$          

5/8"x16" Lag (1@each post) EA 22 5.00$                110.00$          

Washers (3@each post) EA 66 0.50$                33.00$             

Nuts (2@each post) EA 44 1.25$                55.00$             

Stairs

Lumber

3"x12" Stringers EA 4 175.00$           700.00$          

3"x10" Treads EA 6 150.00$           900.00$          

Hardware

20d galvanized (4 per tread) LS 1 20.00$              20.00$             

Deck

Lumber

3"x8" Deck LF 270 20.00$              5,397.30$       

Hardware

7" Ring shank nails (4 per board) LS 1 50.00$              50.00$             

Material Subtotal 13,825.30$     

Labor

Foreman HR 40 70.00$              2,800.00$       

Laborer HR 80 50.00$              4,000.00$       

Labor Subtotal 6,800.00$       

Profit and Indirect (25%) 5,156.33$       

Construction Cost 25,781.63$     

Design (10%) 2,578.16$       

Contingency (20%) 5,671.96$       

Grand Total 34,031.75$     

Assumptions

Project Overview: Bridge #1 located on the South Depoe Bay Creek Nature Trail in a deteriorated condition and needs 

improvements. Improvements include, replacement of stairs, handrails, and decking.

Description

1. Assumes existing log stringers are structurally sound. Costs associated with log stringer replacement are excluded from this 

estimate.

2. Labor Rates based on BOLI and include base rate plus fringe rate.

3. This estimate is based on a preliminary observations of the existing bridges and not final design drawings.

4. Bridge improvement concepts are based on USDA Forest Service Standard Trail Plan details

AKS Engineering Forestry, LLC

12965 SW Herman Road, Suite 100

Tualatin, Oregon

www.aks‐eng.com

PH: 503‐563‐6151Page 130 of 160



PRELIMINARY CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATE

Prepared For: City of Depoe Bay

Prepared By: JPC

Job # 10004‐05

Date: 2/14/2024

Bridge 2

Length =  48 FT

Width =  4 FT

Unit Qty Unit Price Total

Demolition

Dump Fee LS 1 500.00$           500.00$          

Hand Rail

Lumber ‐$                 

4"x6" Post @ 5' O.C. EA 23.2 115.00$           2,668.00$       

2"x6" Rail ‐ 3 layers LF 288 5.00$                1,440.00$       

2"x8"Rail Cap LF 96 6.00$                576.00$          

8"x8" blocking EA 23.2 50.00$              1,160.00$       

Hardware

#10 x4" Wood Screws LS 1 100.00$           100.00$          

5/8" x6" bolt (2@each post) EA 46.4 5.00$                232.00$          

4"x4"x1/4" angle at each post EA 23.2 10.00$              232.00$          

5/8"x16" Lag (1@each post) EA 23.2 5.00$                116.00$          

Washers (3@each post) EA 69.6 0.50$                34.80$             

Nuts (2@each post) EA 46.4 1.25$                58.00$             

Stairs

Lumber

3"x12" Stringers EA 4 175.00$           700.00$          

3"x10" Treads EA 6 150.00$           900.00$          

Hardware

20d galvanized (4 per tread) LS 1 20.00$              20.00$             

Deck

Lumber

3"x8" Deck LF 288 20.00$              5,757.12$       

Hardware

7" Ring shank nails (4 per board) LS 1 50.00$              50.00$             

Material Subtotal 14,543.92$     

Labor

Foreman HR 40 70.00$              2,800.00$       

Laborer HR 80 50.00$              4,000.00$       

Labor Subtotal 6,800.00$       

Profit and Indirect (25%) 5,335.98$       

Construction Cost 26,679.90$     

Design (10%) 2,667.99$       

Contingency (20%) 5,869.58$       

Grand Total 35,217.47$     

Assumptions

Project Overview: Bridge #2 located on the South Depoe Bay Creek Nature Trail in a deteriorated condition and needs 

improvements. Improvements include, replacement of stairs, handrails, and decking.

Description

1. Assumes existing log stringers are structurally sound. Costs associated with log stringer replacement are excluded from this 

estimate.

2. Labor Rates based on BOLI and include base rate plus fringe rate.

3. This estimate is based on a preliminary observations of the existing bridges and not final design drawings.

4. Bridge improvement concepts are based on USDA Forest Service Standard Trail Plan details

AKS Engineering Forestry, LLC

12965 SW Herman Road, Suite 100

Tualatin, Oregon

www.aks‐eng.com

PH: 503‐563‐6151Page 131 of 160



Date: March 13, 2024 
 
To: Depoe Bay Planning Commission 
 
From: Kit Fox, AICP, City Planner 
 
Subject: Planning Process for Emergency Supply Caches 
 

 
Recently, the City Council and the Emergency Preparedness Committee have expressed 
interest in positioning caches of emergency supplies at multiple locations in the City. Staff 
is aware that a few homeowners’ associations in the City maintain emergency supply 
caches for their residents’ use, but the only City-owned and -controlled supply cache is 
located at City Hall. The City has acquired a few 9-foot containers to serve as caches. A 
photograph and dimensioned diagram of one of these containers is provided below. 
 

 
 
The tsunami evacuation maps prepared by the Oregon Department of Geology and 
Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) identify assembly areas outside of the tsunami zone that 
may be suitable sites for City caches (see attachment). However, formally-designated 
locations for City caches have yet to be identified and/or secured. 
 
In most use zones, the Depoe Base Zoning Ordinance (DBZO) allows “governmental 
structure or use of land” as a conditional use, subject to the standards for conditional 
uses under DBZO Sections 152.130-152.136.  The general provisions for conditional uses 
(DBZO Section 152.136(A)) require that the site under consideration is suitable for the 
proposed use considering: 
 

• The size, design, and operating characteristics of the use; 
• The adequacy of transportation access to the site; 
• The natural and physical features of the site, such as general topography and 

natural resource values; 
• The proposed use is compatible with existing and permitted uses on adjacent 

lands, considering the size, design, and operating characteristics of the use; 
• Any lighting provided shall not shine or glare onto adjoining streets or properties. 

Suggest using lights of low stature with shielding. The applicant shall demonstrate 
through a lighting plan that this standard is met; and, 

Page 132 of 160

https://pubs.oregon.gov/dogami/tsubrochures/DepoeBay-EvacBrochure_onscreen.pdf
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/depoebayor/latest/depoebay_or/0-0-0-5846


Planning Process for Emergency Supply Caches 
March 13, 2024, Planning Commission Meeting 
 

20240313_PLANNING PROCESS FOR EMERGENCY SUPPLY CACHES 

• Landscaping shall be designed to provide adequate vegetative cover. 
 
For governmental structures and uses of land, the following additional standards apply, 
pursuant to DBZO Section 152.136(L): 
 

• In a residential zone, all equipment storage shall be within an enclosed building. 
• Maintenance shops shall not be detrimental to adjacent properties. 
• Public utility facilities shall be visually screened by a sight-obscuring screening 

which shall be required to a height appropriate for the facility as approved by the 
Planning Commission, and shall be accomplished with vegetation, or fencing 
landscaped with vegetation, to minimize impacts on adjacent properties. 

 
Policies and procedures for identifying and securing cache sites; providing for access to 
and maintenance of cache contents; and other on-going operational issues will fall 
under the purview of the City Council and/or Emergency Preparedness Committee. The 
Planning Commission’s involvement will be limited to the review of proposed cache sites 
as conditional uses at their various locations. Unlike the process that was undertaken for 
the City’s outdoor emergency warning siren system in 2012, Staff recommends that all 
cache sites be considered through a public hearing process under a single Conditional 
Use Permit (CUP) application. 
 
This report is primarily provided as an informational item for the Commission’s review. The 
Commission may consider adopting a motion supporting the CUP process outlined by 
Staff. Such a motion might also include a recommendation that the City Council and/or 
Emergency Preparedness Committee develop a master plan of cache locations to 
facilitate the CUP process. Alternatively, if the Commission has other suggestions for 
Planning review of City emergency supply caches, Staff would appreciate that 
feedback to share with the City Council and/or Emergency Preparedness Committee. 
 
 
Attachment 

• Depoe Bay Tsunami Evacuation Map/Brochure (DOGAMI, revised 6-20-22) 
 

Page 133 of 160



0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Miles

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Kilometers

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Miles

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Kilometers

!

Little Whale
 Cove

Whale Cove

Pirate Cove

Depoe Bay Whale
Watch Center

City
Park

Boiler Bay
State Scenic

Viewpoint

Boiler Bay

Rocky Creek 
State Wayside

DEPOE BAY

Lillian Ln 

NE Lane St

Alsea Ave

W
orld M

ark

   Collins St

Vista St

Stanley St

Painter Ln

Bay St

Oceana St

W
al

ki
ng

 W
oo

d

Cove Point

Pi
ne

 A
ve

South Point St

   
  S

W
 C

oa
st

 A
ve

Winchell St

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

  S
he

ll 
Av

e

N
E 

S
pr

in
g 

Ave

C
oa

st
 G

ua
rd

 D
r

W
illi

am
s 

Av
e

Austin St

Allen St

Kent St

   
  I

nd
ia

n 
Tr

ai
l A

ve

    Cliff St

S W
 T

in
tin

n
ab

url
ar

y 
Pl

Boiler Bay St

SE
 W

ha
les

on
g D

r

Si
ng

in
g T

ree

 M
ea

do
w

 L
n

Lillian Ln 

NE Lane StNE Lane StNE Lane St

Alsea Ave

W
orld M

ark

   Collins St

Vista St

Stanley St

Painter LnPainter LnPainter Ln

Bay St

Oceana St

W
al

ki
ng

 W
oo

d

Cove Point

Pi
ne

 A
ve

South Point St

   
  S

W
 C

oa
st

 A
ve

Winchell St

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

An
is

le
e 

Av
e

  S
he

ll 
Av

e

N
E 

S
pr

in
g 

Ave
N

E 
S

pr
in

g 

Ave
N

E 
S

pr
in

g 

Ave

C
oa

st
 G

ua
rd

 D
r

W
illi

am
s 

Av
e

Austin St

Allen St

Kent St

   
  I

nd
ia

n 
Tr

ai
l A

ve

    Cliff St

S W
 T

in
tin

n
ab

url
ar

y 
Pl

Boiler Bay St

SE
 W

ha
les

on
g D

r

Si
ng

in
g T

ree

 M
ea

do
w

 L
n

Depoe Bay Creek

William
s Creek  

Deadhorse Creek

South Depoe Bay Creek

Nor

th
 D

ep
oe

 B
ay

 C
ree

k

Depoe Bay Creek

William
s Creek  

Deadhorse Creek

Deadhorse Creek

Deadhorse Creek

South Depoe Bay Creek

Nor

th
 D

ep
oe

 B
ay

 C
ree

k

P 
A 

C
 I 

F 
I C

   
O

 C
 E

 A
 N

Collins StCollins St

Lillian LnLillian Ln

Lane StLane St

DISTANT  TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE
DISTANT  TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE

LOCAL TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE

LOCAL TSUNAMI
EVACUATION ZONE

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

OUTSIDE
HAZARD AREA

63’

20’

51’

18’

20’

20’

65’

20’

65’

20’

68’

20’

101

101

101

Depoe
Bay

Harbor

Elevation, in feet / Elevación, 
en pies

35’

Fire department / Bomberos

Bridge / Puente

Assembly area / Área reuniónA

Evacuation route / Ruta de 
evacuación

MAP SYMBOLS / 
SÍMBOLOS DEL MAPA

NOTICE
This tsunami evacuation zone map was developed by DOGAMI 
for the purpose of evaluating the most effective means to guide the 
public in the event of a tsunami evacuation. The map is based on 
preliminary data and should not be used for site-specific planning. 
This map adopts recommendations from the Oregon Tsunami Advisory 
Council. The evacuation routes were developed by local emergency 
officials and reviewed by the Oregon Department of Emergency 
Management.

MAP REVISED 06-20-22

O
R

E
G

O
N

D
E

P
A

R
TM

E NT O F G EO L O GY A ND
M I N

E
R

A
L

I N
D

U
S

T
R

IE
S

1937

N

SCALE / ESCALA
0.25 mile

0.25 km

In the case of a distant tsunami event, the city’s 
outdoor emergency warning siren and public
announcement system will be activated to provide
notification and instructions to the public.  

*

TSUNAMI EVACUATION MAP
DEPOE BAY, OREGON

OUTSIDE HAZARD AREA: Evacuate to this 
area for all tsunami warnings or if you feel an 
earthquake.

DISTANT TSUNAMI: Evacuation zone for a 
distant tsunami from an earthquake far away 
from the Oregon coast.

ZONA DE PELIGRO EXTERIOR: Evacue a esta 
área para todas las advertencias del maremoto 
o si usted siente un temblor.

MAREMOTO LOCAL (terremoto de Cascadia):
Zona de evacuación para un tsunami local de un 
temblor cerca de la costa de Oregon.

MAREMOTO DISTANTE: Zona de evacuación 
para un tsunami distante de un temblor lejos
de la costa de Oregon.

LOCAL CASCADIA EARTHQUAKE AND 
TSUNAMI: Evacuation zone for a local tsu-
nami from an earthquake at the Oregon coast.

ASSEMBLY
AREA A ÁREA 

REUNIÓN

IF YOU FEEL AN EARTHQUAKE:
• Drop, cover, and hold 
• Move immediately inland to higher ground 
• Do not wait for an official warning 

SI USTED SIENTE EL TEMBLOR:
• Tírese al suelo, cúbrase, y espere
• Diríjase de inmediato a un lugar 
  más alto que el nivel del mar
• No espere por un aviso oficial

MAP LOCATION

ORE GON

A

A

A

A

A

Scan me! 

Page 134 of 160



TO:  Depoe Bay City Council 

FROM:  Kim Wollenburg, City Recorder 

DATE:  March 14, 2024, for March 19, 2024, City Council Meeting 

SUBJECT:  Water Treatment Plant 

Action Requested:  None at this time. 
 
Discussion:  Staff met with the contractors working on the Water Treatment Plant 
Filter and Foundation repair project and received an update and reports on their 
findings. Their reports are attached. 
 
They addressed the challenge of what it would take to do the repair work inside 
the billing due to the lack of overhead clearance that would allow them to have 
the access they need to drill in order to get to the depth they need to shore the 
new foundation. They indicated that the limitations are significant and even with 
a mini excavator, they believe it would be a problem to install helical piers. While 
a potential solution is to remove the siding that is already falling apart due to 
corrosion, they believe that the County would continue that too much major 
work and require a substantial building permit that would need to bring a lot of 
things up to the current code. 
 
In addition, and of graver concern, the boring samples taken discovered that 
the gravel is not “competent,” which means that it was not properly and solidly 
compacted and not to the same depth throughout. These two issues have 
resulted in the plant “sliding” east toward the creek. They estimate the sliding has 
already been about 6”. While there is no danger of it sliding into the creek, the 
slippage will continue and would interfere with the stability of anything they did 
to repair the foundation. They noted that the concrete block that was placed in 
the time, standard in the time, does not hold up well under salt, which is also 
what they are seeing. 
 
At this time, while there are things they could do to deal with the most 
immediate, their feeling is that it would merely be a band-aid and that within 10 
years, there would be problems again. 
 
Budget Impact: At this time, still being calculated. Unknown. 
 
Recommendation: None. 
 
Attachment(s): 

• Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Recommendations 
• Water Treatment Plant Existing Filter Building Foundation Observation 

Page 135 of 160



1 Draft / February 2024 

Technical Memorandum 
Technical Memorandum 

To: Preston Van Meter, 
West Yost Associates Project: The Automation Group— 

Depoe Bay WTP Evaluation 

From: Wolfe Lang, PE, GE cc: 

Date: February 5th, 2024 Job No.: 6527.0 

Prepared 
by: Jeremy Fissel, PE Reviewed 

by: Wolfe Lang, PE, GE 

Subject: Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Recommendations 

Revision Log 

Revision No. Date Revision Description 
Draft February 6th, 2024 Draft Submittal 

1.0 Introduction 

The City of Depoe Bay (The City) is in the process of designing upgrades to the existing water 
treatment plant along Collins Street in Depoe Bay, Oregon. The City has contracted with West 
Yost Associates and The Automation Group to provide these services. Delve Underground 
(Delve) was contracted by West Yost Associates to perform a subsurface investigation of the 
site and provide geotechnical design and construction recommendations for the improvements 
to the facility.  

We understand that the proposed improvements will include equipment modifications and 
upgrades to the existing water treatment plant equipment and improvements inside the 
existing one-story slab-on-grade structure.  

This technical memorandum includes a summary of our subsurface investigation at the site as 
well as a summary of preliminary geotechnical design and construction recommendations. Site 
Description  

1.1 Surface Conditions and Topography 

The City’s currently operating water treatment facility is located east of HWY 101 just north and 
west of North Depoe Bay Creek in the town of Depoe Bay. The facility address is 455 Collins 
Street, Depoe Bay, Oregon in Lincoln County.   

DRAFT

Page 136 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 2  Draft / February 2024 

The existing facility has a paved access road which parallels North Depoe Bay Creek to an intake 
location upstream of the creek. Downstream from the water treatment facility, North Depoe 
Bay Creek runs generally northwest into Depoe Bay approximately one quarter mile away. The 
water treatment facility is in a residential area, generally sloping toward the creek, grass 
covered, and wooded on the periphery.  

The paved parking lot south of the water treatment building and the paved access road appear 
to be in good condition, free of significant fractures. 

1.2  Existing Facility and Planned Improvements 

The present facility includes a one-story slab on grade structure, about 40 by 50 feet in 
footprint, that houses the water treatment entities and office space. The structure is steel 
framed and sheathed in metal siding and roofing. An outdoor clarifier is located directly north 
of the primary structure. Supplemental structures to the north of the clarifier and south of the 
water treatment building are present and contain additional facilities. Grade appears to be 
constructed of cut on the west side of the water treatment building, while the east side 
adjacent to the creek appears to be founded on fill.  

There is an existing above ground liquid alum tank and clarifier north of the above-described 
enclosed structure. A backwash pond is located east of both the existing metal framed 
structure and North Depoe Bay Creek. Below grade piping is abundant across the site and 
includes currently operating lines as likely previously decommissioned lines which had been left 
in place.  

1.3 Historical Plant Improvements 

1993 historical documents (City of Depoe Bay, 1993) show previous water system 
improvements at the site that included construction of the existing exterior clarifier, new piping 
and decommissioned piping, construction of new filters inside the existing slab on grade 
structure, and modification of this slab on grade structure for these improvements.    

The original site layout and construction is unknown.  

1.4 Proposed Plant Improvements 

Improvements to the present facility include water treatment system modernization, improved 
capacities, and other general operational upgrades. While planning these improvements, 
cracking in the existing concrete mat of supporting the filters inside the slab on grade structure 
was reported. Because of this the Project Designer, West Yost Associates, contracted Delve 
Underground to evaluate the subsurface conditions of the water treatment facility and provide 
geotechnical recommendations prior to the final design and implementation of the plant 
improvements.  

DRAFT

Page 137 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 3  Draft / February 2024 

1.5 Site Reconnaissance 

A Delve Underground Engineer visited the site on December 19, 2023. Cracking and settlement 
of the concrete mat foundations were observed inside the existing metal framed facility. See 
Photos 1 through 5 below.  

 

PHOTO 1: Viewing west along the north side of the existing metal framed slab on 
grade structure, Alum Tank, and Clarifier. 

 

Liquid Alum Tank Clarifier 

Metal-Framed Building Supported 
by Concrete Slab on Grade 

DRAFT

Page 138 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 4  Draft / February 2024 

 

PHOTO 2: Wide cracking and potential settlement of the concrete mat 
foundation supporting the existing filter and above grade piping inside the 

metal-framed structure. 

 

DRAFT

Page 139 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 5  Draft / February 2024 

 

PHOTO 3: East end of the concrete mat foundation (inside the metal-framed 
structure) is about 3 inches higher than the adjacent floor slab. On the west end, 

however, it’s about 5 inches higher than the floor slab (see Photo 4). 

DRAFT

Page 140 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 6  Draft / February 2024 

 

PHOTO 4: West end of the concrete mat foundation is about 5 inches higher 
than the adjacent floor slab. On the east end, however, it’s only about 3 inches 

higher than the floor slab (see Photo 3). 

 DRAFT

Page 141 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 7  Draft / February 2024 

 

PHOTO 5: Hairline cracking in the concrete mat supporting interior piping. 

1.6 Geology 

Surficial deposits at the site are composed of Quaternary alluvium from the adjacent stream of 
the same protolith as the local bedrock. Alluvium is underlain by marine sedimentary rocks of 
the Astoria Formation from the middle Miocene, consisting of thick to thinly bedded arkosic 
sandstone and sandy siltstone and thin dacitic tuff beds. Both the sandstone and siltstone 
contain fine to medium grained sand, are micaceous and carbonaceous, and commonly contain 
marine fossils.  

DRAFT

Page 142 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 8  Draft / February 2024 

The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA; Soil Survey Staff 2024) classified the 
surficial soils as “Gleneden silty clay loam” on 2 to 12 percent slopes. This unit is derived from 
mixed sources of marine terrace deposits and alluvium. These soils are somewhat poorly 
drained and have a moderately low to very low capacity to transmit water.   

2.0 Subsurface Investigation 

Three shallow soil borings, B-1 through B-3, were drilled at the site on January 9, 2024 by Dan J. 
Fischer Excavating, Inc. of Forest Grove, Oregon. The borings were located outside the footprint 
of the existing metal-framed, slab on grade facility.  The approximate locations of the soil 
borings are shown in Figure 1. A trailer-mounted big beaver drilled was used with solid stem 
auger techniques to advance each boring. The borings terminated between 12 and 15 feet 
below ground surface (bgs).  

Disturbed soil samples were collected using Standard Penetration Testing (SPT) techniques at 
1.5-foot intervals using a standard 2-inch diameter split-barrel sampler and manual (cathead) 
hammer. In each test, the sampler was advanced 18 inches by dropping a 140-pound hammer 
30 inches for each blow in accordance with ASTM D1586. The number of hammer blows for 
each six inches of penetration was recorded and the standard penetration resistance 
(designated as the letter N) of the soil was calculated as the sum of the number of blows 
required for the final 12 inches of sampler penetration.  

The soil borings were backfilled with bentonite chips after completion.  

3.0 Subsurface Conditions 

We encountered a layer of fill overlying native soils in each of our explorations. The fill soils 
were mostly comprised of topsoil overlying gravel. The depth of the fill material extended 
about 4 feet bgs.  

The native soils encountered beneath the fill were comprised of soft, wet, organic silt, sandy 
silt, and elastic silt overlying a siltstone or residual soil from a siltstone stratum. Each 
exploration terminated in competent siltstone.   

Summary logs of our soil borings are included in Appendix A. The stratigraphic contacts 
indicated on the boring log represent the approximate boundaries between soil types and 
actual transitions may be more gradual. Each unit encountered is described in further detail 
below.  

3.1 Fill Materials 

Beneath the 4 to 6 inches of topsoil at each exploration, loose to medium dense gravel fill was 
encountered. The gravel extended to a depth of about 2 to 4 feet below ground surface (bgs). 
N-values from SPT samples within the gravel fill ranged from 4 to 12 blows per foot bpf. Based 

DRAFT

Page 143 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 9  Draft / February 2024 

on visual manual methods (ASTM D2488) from the recovered SPT samples we classified the 
gravel fill poorly graded gravel with silt and sand (GP) and well graded gravel (GW). 

Beneath the gravel fill at 2 feet bgs, sandy silt fill was encountered in B-3 and extended to about 
4 feet bgs. This fill material also included about 20 percent gravel.  

3.2 Native Soils 

Native soils were encountered in our investigation at about 4 feet bgs. The upper contact of the 
native stratum included fine-grained soils and transitioned to siltstone with depth. The surface 
of the siltstone was encountered at 7.5, 9, and 13 feet bgs in our explorations. Each of our 
explorations at the site terminated within the siltstone. 

The upper fine-grained native soils included sandy silt (ML), organic silt with sand (OL), and 
elastic silt (MH). Between the upper fine-grained soils and the siltstone, well-graded gravel with 
silt (GW) was encountered in B-3 from 10 to 13 feet bgs. The gravel was considered medium 
dense based on the SPT N-value obtained within the unit.  

The sandy silt in B-1 and B-2 from about 4 to 6 feet bgs included about 20 percent organics 
while in B-3 from about 7 to 10 feet bgs included about 30 percent organics. In B-2 and B-3 
native organic silt (OL) was encountered within the native sandy silt profile. These fine-grained 
native soils were considered very soft to medium stiff based on SPT N-values. The thickness of 
the very soft native soils generally increases from west to east toward the creek, from about 2 
feet in B-1 to about 3 feet in B-2 and to about 4 to 5 feet in B-3. 

The siltstone encountered ranged in color from light brown to gray-blue, to dark gray. Eight SPT 
samples were obtained within the native siltstone. N-values from these samples ranged from 
18 to 58 and increased with depth. Each of our explorations at the site terminated within the 
siltstone between 12 and 15 feet bgs.  

3.3 Groundwater 

A static groundwater level was observed about 5 feet bgs in each of our shallow solid stem 
auger explorations borings.  

Groundwater levels can vary with precipitation, the time of year, and other factors. Generally, 
groundwater highs occur near the end of the wet season in late spring or early summer and 
groundwater lows occur near the end of the dry season in the early fall. 

4.0 Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations  

The cracking in the existing concrete slab observed at the site appears to represent settlement 
of the ground beneath the concrete footprint. Based on our investigation results, we conclude 
the original slab on grade structure was likely built on gravelly fill soils placed upon very soft to 

DRAFT

Page 144 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 10  Draft / February 2024 

soft native soils. Upgrades after the construction of the original facility likely included heavy 
elements, such as filter tanks, founded on new, thick concrete mats. These thick mats likely 
settled since their construction, generating cracks and settlements as observed on site.  

We assume the planned improvements will include new foundations for equipment upgrades. 
The dimensions and depths of the new foundations are not known. The new foundations could 
experience settlement if constructed on the existing fill or the underlying soft native soils. 
Therefore, we recommend new foundations bear on the underlying competent siltstone and/or 
native gravel layer above the siltstone. The surface of these competent layers was encountered 
between 8 and 10 feet bgs.  

Extending conventional foundations to the competent surface within the existing building 
would require deep excavations and likely necessitate shoring.  As an alternative to 
conventional foundation types, we recommend constructing planned improvements on deep 
foundations. Considering the low clearance of the existing structure, we recommend use of 
smaller foundation types, such as helical piers or 4 to 6-inch diameter pipe piles (pin piles) that 
extend into the siltstone layer.  

The following sections include recommendations for seismic site class, soil bearing capacity, 
subgrade modulus, and settlement estimates.   

4.1 Conventional Foundations 

Conventional spread and strip footings should bear on the underlying siltstone or native gravel 
layer. Based on explorations, this would require the bottom of the new foundations to extend 
about 8 to 10 feet below ground surface.  

New conventional foundations bearing as described can be designed using an allowable bearing 
capacity of 3,000 pounds per square foot. This value can be increased by 1/3 for transient loads, 
such as those by wind and seismic events. 

If designed as a concrete slab, or thicker mat foundation, we recommend using a Modulus of 
Subgrade Reaction, k, of 400 pounds per square inch. This subgrade modulus value represents 
and anticipated value which would be obtained in a standard in situ plate test with a 1-foot 
square plate. Use of this subgrade modulus for floor slab design should include appropriate 
modifications based on dimensions. 

The concrete shallow foundations and floor slabs can extend to the contact of the siltstone or 
the native gravel, or structural fill may be placed on the native soils to raise the elevation of the 
bottom of the foundation element. Our recommendations for structural fill are provided in the 
following report section. 

We anticipate conventional shallow foundations designed and prepared in accordance with the 
above recommendations will result in total settlement less than 1-inch under both static and 

DRAFT

Page 145 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 11  Draft / February 2024 

seismic conditions. Differential settlement is expected to be on the order of one-half of the 
total settlement between adjacent footings or the span of planned concrete slabs.  

4.2 Structural Fill and Compaction Criteria 

If used, we recommend that imported crushed rock be used between the subgrade and the 
bottom of the shallow foundation elements. Structural fill should be placed after subgrade 
preparation and approval. Structural fill should consist of crushed rock conforming to Oregon 
Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for Construction Section 02630.10 for 
Dense Graded Aggregates for either ¾-inch minus or 1-1/2-inch minus gradings. Structural fill 
should be compacted to 92 percent of maximum dry density as determined by ASTM D1557 
(Modified Proctor). The structural fill should be placed in maximum lifts of 12 inches of loose 
material. Each lift of structural fill should be tested by a qualified testing agency prior to 
placement of subsequent lifts. Lift thickness may need to be lessened depending on 
compaction equipment and methods.  

4.3 Deep Foundations 

As an alternative to conventional shallow foundations, we recommend using driven pin piles (4-
inch or 6-inch diameter pipe piles) or torqued helical piers to support new structures. Each of 
these foundation types should embed into the surface of the sandstone layer. 

Each of the foundation types discussed below will require design and construction of a pile cap. 

4.3.1 Pin Piles 

Pin piles should be driven to refusal, likely into the siltstone stratum. Due to the low overhead 
clearance, we anticipate smaller pneumatic hammers would be practical to install these 
elements. For preliminary purposes, we recommend using an allowable individual axial capacity 
of 20 kips for 4-inch diameter, Schedule 80 pin piles driven to refusal into the siltstone.  

Pin pile driving refusal would be later be defined according to the contractor equipment 
(hammer make/model and weight). Based on the depth of the siltstone surface encountered in 
our explorations, we anticipate pin pile total length for the project will be on the order of 10 to 
15 feet when driven to refusal. 

Based on the current overhead clearance of the structure, it is likely that pin pile installation 
will require driving shorter individual segments followed by welding additional segments. Other 
options for faster installation may include removing portion of the structures roof to allow for 
greater overhead clearance.  

DRAFT

Page 146 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 12  Draft / February 2024 

4.3.2 Helical Piers 

Helical piers are screw-type “anchors” that support a pile cap, similar to a pin pile. Helical piers 
are normally installed in segments varying in length of 3 to 7 feet until the final design depth. 
The individual sections are bolted to allow for fast installation. Typically, manufacturers of 
helical piers provide steel brackets and steel caps to incorporate into the final pile cap design.  

Helical piers used for axial support of small loads are often installed (torqued) to refusal. 
Refusal torque is based on the manufacturer structural capacity recommendations of the 
anchor. We recommend round shaft helical anchors used to support loads in compression. The 
selection of the helical pier type will need to consider a torque capacity great enough to 
penetrate the surficial gravelly fill at the site.  

For planning purposes, we recommend helical piers with an individual axial compressive 
capacity of 15 to 45 kips will be suitable for the planned improvements. We assume that helical 
piers of these capacities will develop their maximum torque within the underlying siltstone 
layer that was encountered 8 to 13 feet bgs in our explorations.   

4.4 Additional Geotechnical Work During Design and Construction Phases 

The preceding preliminary recommendations are based on our site investigation using three 
shallow, solid stem auger explorations terminating in the upper surface of the siltstone stratum. 
Delve Underground should be consulted during the planning and design phases so that our 
recommendations can be revised based on refined structural loadings, final foundation 
locations, and site access restrictions.  

During the construction phase of the project the geotechnical engineer should observe 
prepared foundation subgrade or installation of deep foundations to confirm it meets those 
conditions used to develop the recommended design criteria provided in this report. 

  DRAFT

Page 147 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 13  Draft / February 2024 

5.0 Closure  

This technical memorandum has been prepared for the use of the City of Depoe Bay for the 
planned improvements to the existing water treatment facility located at 455 Collins Street in 
Depoe Bay, Oregon. Our conclusions and recommendations are based on our interpretation of 
the information from the geotechnical explorations, geologic mapping, as well as our 
professional experience and judgment. 

In the performance of geotechnical work, specific information is obtained at specific locations 
at specific times, and geologic conditions can change over time. It should be acknowledged that 
variations in soil conditions may exist between exploration and exposed locations and this 
technical memorandum does not necessarily reflect variations between different explorations.  

This technical memorandum was completed within the limitations of the West Yost Associates 
approved scope of work, schedule, and budget. The services rendered have been performed in 
a manner consistent with the level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the 
profession currently practicing under similar conditions in the same area. Delve Underground is 
not responsible for the use of this technical memorandum in connection with anything other 
than the project at the location described above. 

 

DELVE UNDERGOUND 

 

 

 

 

 

_________________________    ________________________   
Jeremy Fissel, PE      Yuxin “Wolfe” Lang, PE, GE 
Senior Project Engineer     Principal  

DRAFT

Page 148 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

 14  Draft / February 2024 

6.0 References 

Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), 2021. Oregon Standard Specifications for 
Construction. 

Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA). Web Soil Survey. http://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/. Accessed 
1/22/2024. 

Snavely, P. D., et al. Geologic map of the Cape Foulweather and Euchre Mountain quadrangles, 
Lincoln County, Oregon. US Geological Survey, 1976, 
ngmdb.usgs.gov/Prodesc/proddesc_9770.htm. Geologic Map; 1:62,500 scale. 

 

DRAFT

Page 149 of 160

http://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/


Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

   Draft / February 2024 

 

Figures 
  DRAFT

Page 150 of 160



DEPOE BAY WATER TREATMENT PLANT EVALUATION

SITE EXPLORATION PLAN FEB 2024

FIGURE
1

NE COLLINS ST

B-1
B-2

B-3

LEGEND

APPROX. BORING LOCATION

N

DRAFT

Page 151 of 160



Depoe Bay Water Treatment Plant Evaluation Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations 

   Draft / February 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A Soil Boring Logs 

DRAFT

Page 152 of 160



EL
EV

. (
FT

)

57

52

47

42

W
AT

ER
 L

EV
EL

DE
PT

H
 (F

T)

5

10

15

SA
M

PL
E 

TY
PE

RE
CO

VE
RY

 (%
)

83

22

17

100

83

83

100

67

BL
O

W
CO

U
N

TS

4-9-8
(N=17)

5-6-6
(N=12)

4-4-3
(N=7)

1-1-1
(N=2)

1-1-5
(N=6)

5-7-11
(N=18)

11-18-20
(N=38)

6-20-27
(N=47)

SA
M

PL
E 

N
U

M
BE

R

SPT_
1

SPT_
2

SPT_
3

SPT_
4

SPT_
5

SPT_
6

SPT_
7

SPT_
8

U
SC

S 
G

RA
PH

IC
U

SC
S

ML

GP-
GM

ML

MH

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

TOPSOIL: 6 inches thick, moist to wet, brown, 
SILT with SAND; sur cial vegeta on, rootlets 
to 0.5 feet.
Medium dense, moist, brown-gray, POORLY 
GRADED GRAVEL with SILT and SAND (GP-
GM); medium sub-angular gravel, ne to 
medium sand

Fill

Very so , wet, dark brown SANDY SILT (ML); 
approximately 20% organics

Na ve

Medium s , wet, gray-red, ELASTIC SILT 
(MH); high plas city; iron staining

Residual Soil
SILTSTONE - moist, light brown-red, iron 
stained joints

Silstone

9.8 feet bgs: Color becomes light brown-
blue
10.5 feet bgs: Color becomes gray-blue

REMARKS
AND

TESTS

Water level 
measured a er 
drilling at 5.25 feet 
bgs. 

Borehole completed 
at 12 feet below 
ground surface 
(bgs).

BA
CK

FI
LL

/IN
ST

AL
L.

N (blows/ft)
10 20 30 40

Project: Depoe Bay WTP Evalua on
Project Loca on: Depoe Bay, OR
Project Number: 6527.0

Log of Boring 

B-1
Date(s)
Drilled 01/09/2024 Client West Yost Final

Depth 12.0 ft bgs
Coordinates Geotechnical

Consultant Delve Underground Method/
Rig Type

Solid Stem Auger
Li le Beaver

Surface
Eleva on 61.5 ft. Drilling

Contractor Dan Fischer Hole
Diameter 4.00 in

Loca on West-most borehole Logged by/
Checked by J. Siemens / J. Fissel Hammer

Type 140 lb / 30 in / Cathead Winch

Boring B-1
Sheet 1 of 1

DRAFT

Page 153 of 160



EL
EV

. (
FT

)

57

52

47

42

W
AT

ER
 L

EV
EL

DE
PT

H
 (F

T)

5

10

15

SA
M

PL
E 

TY
PE

RE
CO

VE
RY

 (%
)

67

61

55

50

22

89

89

39

100

BL
O

W
CO

U
N

TS

8-12-10
(N=22)

7-5-5
(N=10)

2-3-3
(N=6)

1-0-1
(N=1)

1-1-1
(N=2)

1-1-4
(N=5)

8-9-11
(N=20)

10-10-11
(N=21)

18-22-32
(N=54)

SA
M

PL
E 

N
U

M
BE

R

SPT_
1

SPT_
2

SPT_
3

SPT_
4

SPT_
5

SPT_
6

SPT_
7

SPT_
8

SPT_
9

U
SC

S 
G

RA
PH

IC
U

SC
S

ML

GW

ML

OL/
OH

ML

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

TOPSOIL - 4 inches thick, moist to wet, dark 
brown, SILT with SAND (ML) 
Medium dense, moist, brown-gray, WELL 
GRADED GRAVEL (GW); ne to coarse, 
subangular

Fill

Very so , moist, brown SANDY SILT (ML); 
about 20% organics (wood bers)

Na ve

So , moist, dark brown, ORGANIC SILT (OL); 
ne sand, detritus ma er
Na ve

Medium s , moist, dark brown-green, 
SANDY SILT (ML); approx. 10% organics 
(charcoal and wood), ne sand

Residual Soil

SILTSTONE - moist to wet, gray-blue, ne to 
coarse sand, iron stained joints.

Siltstone

11.0 feet bgs: Color becomes gray

REMARKS
AND

TESTS

Water level 
measured a er 
drilling at 5.00 feet 
bgs. 

Borehole completed 
at 13.5 feet below 
ground surface 
(bgs).

BA
CK

FI
LL

/IN
ST

AL
L.

N (blows/ft)
10 20 30 40

Project: Depoe Bay WTP Evalua on
Project Loca on: Depoe Bay, OR
Project Number: 6527.0

Log of Boring 

B-2
Date(s)
Drilled 01/09/2024 Client West Yost Final

Depth 13.5 ft bgs
Coordinates Geotechnical

Consultant Delve Underground Method/
Rig Type

Solid Stem Auger
Li le Beaver

Surface
Eleva on 61.5 ft. Drilling

Contractor Dan Fischer Hole
Diameter 4.00 in

Loca on
Asphalt adjacent, east of B-1 and north of B-2

Logged by/
Checked by J. Siemens / J. Fissel Hammer

Type 140 lb / 30 in / Cathead Winch

Boring B-2
Sheet 1 of 1

DRAFT

Page 154 of 160



EL
EV

. (
FT

)

57

52

47

42

W
AT

ER
 L

EV
EL

DE
PT

H
 (F

T)

5

10

15

SA
M

PL
E 

TY
PE

RE
CO

VE
RY

 (%
)

45

45

61

50

33

61

22

22

22

89

BL
O

W
CO

U
N

TS

5-3-1
(N=4)

2-1-4
(N=5)

1-0-6
(N=6)

1-1-1
(N=2)

3-1-1
(N=2)

0-1-1
(N=2)

6-7-8
(N=15)

7-9-10
(N=19)

7-10-12
(N=22)

16-22-36
(N=58)

SA
M

PL
E 

N
U

M
BE

R

SPT_
1

SPT_
2

SPT_
3

SPT_
4

SPT_
5

SPT_
6

SPT_
7

SPT_
8

SPT_
9

SPT_
10

U
SC

S 
G

RA
PH

IC
U

SC
S

ML

GP

SP

OL/
OH

ML

GW
-

GM

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

TOPSOIL - 6 inches of moist to wet, brown 
silt with sand
Very loose, moist, brown WELL GRADED 
GRAVEL with SAND (GW); ne to medium 
sub-angular gravel, ne to medium sand

Fill
Loose, moist, brown, poorly graded SAND 
(SP); medium sand

Fill
So , wet, dark brown to black, ORGANIC SILT 
with SAND (OL); 25-40% organics (wood, 
charcoal, detritus), 10% ne sand, 50% non-
plas c nes

Na ve
6.0 feet bgs: Solid wood 3" thick in 
sampler

So  to medium s , moist, green-gray, 
SANDY SILT (ML); ne sand, trace coarse 
rounded gravels, approximately 30% organics

Na ve

Medium dense, moist, gray WELL GRADED 
GRAVEL with SILT (GW-GM), ne to medium 
rounded gravel, ne to coarse sand 10-20%, 
15-30% silt, trace organics (wood)

Na ve

SILTSTONE - moist to wet, dark gray, ne 
sand, iron stained joints.

Siltstone

REMARKS
AND

TESTS

Water level 
measured a er 
drilling at 4.50 feet 
bgs. 

Borehole completed 
at 15 feet below 
ground surface 
(bgs).

BA
CK

FI
LL

/IN
ST

AL
L.

N (blows/ft)
10 20 30 40

Project: Depoe Bay WTP Evalua on
Project Loca on: Depoe Bay, OR
Project Number: 6527.0

Log of Boring 

B-3
Date(s)
Drilled 01/09/2024 Client West Yost Final

Depth 15.0 ft bgs
Coordinates Geotechnical

Consultant Delve Underground Method/
Rig Type

Solid Stem Auger
Li le Beaver

Surface
Eleva on 61.5 ft. Drilling

Contractor Dan Fischer Hole
Diameter 4.00 in

Loca on
Asphalt adjacent, approx. in line with building peak

Logged by/
Checked by J. Siemens / J. Fissel Hammer

Type 140 lb / 30 in / Cathead Winch

Boring B-3
Sheet 1 of 1

DRAFT

Page 155 of 160



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 

Page 1 of 4 
DRAFT 

DATE: March 5, 2024 

TO: West Yost 

ATTENTION: Preston Van Meter 

PROJECT: 2023-12, City of Depoe Bay, Oregon 

SUBJECT: Water Treatment Plant Existing Filter Building Foundation Observation 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 In late 2023 the City of Depoe Bay, Oregon (City) requested an evaluation of the 
foundation supporting filter tanks in the main building at the Water Treatment Plant. A geotechinal 
evaluation was performed, with site borings performed in December and a draft report provided in 
February 2024. The plant was to remain in operation.  

1.2 In 2004 the State of Oregon updated the building code to classify facilities that provide 
water for fire suppression as essential facilities. Essential facilities need to remain in operation 
after significant events like snowstorms, wind storms and earthquakes. Water treatment facilities 
are considered as important as hospitals, fire stations and police stations. In 1993 the State of 
Oregon increased the seismic risk for counties west of the Cascade Range because of the likely 
potential of a large magnitude earthquake due to the Cascadia Subduction Zone fault. 

2.0 Documentation Review 

2.1 The City provided drawings from 1993 for upgrades to the plant. No original drawings of 
the plant were available. These drawings were reviewed to identify the primary structural 
elements and support system. Due to the age of the building and changes to the building code 
this facility likely does not comply with current building safety standards for water treatment 
facilities. 

2.2  The draft geotechnical evaluation was also reviewed. Recommendations to mitigate the 
soil issues include removing & replacing soft soils from the site or installing pipe or helical piles. 

3.0 Site Observation 

3.1  On February 23, 2024, staff from the City of Depoe Bay, West Yost and I met at the plant 
to observe the condition of the existing building and filter foundation. The best guess is that the 
original building was constructed in the 1970s or early 1980s. The condition of the existing metal 
siding on the outside of the building was observed. The perimeter of the foundation was observed 
only where it was exposed to view; limited materials were moved, or excavation performed.   

3.2  The interior of the building was observed. Limited dimensions were taken, and the 
general framing scheme of the existing building was noted. The condition of the existing slab and 
concrete pad that supports the filters was observed and photographed. 

3.3  There is a desire to replace at least one of the existing filter tanks. The filters are located 
in a long narrow room occupying the north half of the building. This room has only one double 
door to the exterior on the west side of the building directly into the hillside. There is a non-
bearing wood framed partition wall running east west that divides the filters from the Garage and 
Chemical Mixing Area. 

Page 156 of 160



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 

Page 2 of 4 
DRAFT 

4.0 Structural Observation Summaries 

4.1  The bottom of the metal siding at 
the exterior of the building is rusting where it 
meets the ground. Some of the metal siding 
is in contact with the adjacent grade or soil. 
The siding in contact with the soil may be 
contributing to the corrosion of the siding or 
the salt air due to proximity to the ocean or 
the siding may have reached the end of its 
useful life. 

Figure 4.1 Corroded Siding 

4.2  A significant crack was observed in 
the foundation from exterior of the building. 
The crack is located on the east side of the 
building approximately 5 feet from the south 
corner. The majority of the foundation is not 
visible from the exterior due to the height of 
the adjacent grade. 

Figure 4.2 Foundation Crack from Exterior

4.3  All of the downspouts discharge 
adjacent to the building. Two of the 
downspouts splash away from the building, 
but one discharges directly down next to the 
slab. The northwest downspout discharges 
into the ground into what may be an attempt 
at a French drain or drywell.  

Figure 4.3 NE Downspout Discharge

4.4 The bottom portion of the interior 
wall framing is corroding. The bottom of the 
siding is fastened to a steel angle that is 
bolted to the slab. This angle is rusty in 
many locations. Rust was observed at the 
base of most of the building columns. This 
corrosion may be due to the corroded siding, 
chemicals used in the treatment process or 
the humid environment inside the building or 
salt air due to proximity to ocean. Figure 4.4 Corrosion at Bottom of Wall

Page 157 of 160



    TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
 

Page 3 of 4 
  DRAFT 
 

4.5 The existing concrete slab on the 
interior of the building is in poor condition. 
The crack observed from the exterior 
mentioned above continues into the 
Chemical Mixing Area and is large enough 
to be of structural concern. The existing slab 
is out of level. An attempt to determine how 
much the building slopes from west to east 
was performed. It appears that the building 
may be over 4 inches lower on the east side 
than the west side; see Appendix A for 
approximate relative elevation 
measurements taken during the site 
observation. 

 
Figure 4.5 Crack in Chemical Mixing Area Slab 
 

 
4.6 The existing concrete foundation 
that supports the filters has a significant 
crack through the middle and is also out of 
level. An attempt to determine how much the 
foundation is out of level and appears that it 
might slope as much as 3 inches from west 
down to the east. 

  
Figure 4.6 Crack in Filter Foundation 

 
4.7  It would be difficult to replace the filter equipment through the existing double doors on 
the west side of the Filter Room. It is possible to remove the siding and wall framing to replace 
the filter equipment, but the age and poor condition of the siding may make reinstallation nearly 
impossible. Replacing the existing siding and wall framing to replace the equipment may trigger a 
building upgrade by the local building department. 
 
4.8 There are wood framed walkways inside the Filter Room for workers to access the filters, 
observe the equipment and perform maintenance. These walkways do not comply with OSHA 
guidelines and do not appear to be adequately braced to support themselves. The walkways are 
supported off of the filter tanks, which were likely not designed for the load of walkways. 
 
5.0 Conclusions 
 
5.1 The existing building is settling. The existing concrete filter foundation inside of the 
existing building is also settling. The significant cracks in the building slab and filter foundations 
are indicative of inadequate, unbonded or absent reinforcing bars. 
 
5.2 The existing elevated walkways around the existing filters do not comply with OSHA 
requirements. 

Page 158 of 160



    TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
 

Page 4 of 4 
  DRAFT 
 

5.3 It may be difficult to perform upgrades to the existing building without triggering a 
structural upgrade based on the current building code. 
 
6.0 Structural Rehabilitation Recommendations  
 
6.1  Consider replacement of the Filter Building with a new building and foundation that is 
placed on a stable foundation and sized appropriately for the equipment. A new building could 
include adequate clearance around equipment and OSHA compliant walkways for the workers to 
access the equipment. 
 
6.2  Alternatively, undertake a complex project to level and strengthen the building and filter 
foundations with piles and remove a portion of the interior non-bearing wall to install the filter. 
Replacing the soil beneath the existing building and filter foundations, as suggested in the 
Geotechnical Memorandum, would be a very difficult undertaking. Installing pipe or helical piles in 
strategic locations would likely be more cost effective. The piles will need to be numerous and 
closely spaced to adequately support the load of the filter equipment and prevent further cracking 
to the foundations. This type of project should be coordinated with the building official so an 
upgrade to the whole building is not mandated by the building permit. This may be difficult or 
impossible and may exceed the cost of a new building. 
 
6.3  It is not recommended to remove the existing siding and framing to install the filter 
equipment. Removing the interior non-bearing wood framed partition wall to replace the filter 
equipment is strongly recommended. 
 
7.0 Limitations 
 
This Structural Technical Memorandum has been prepared for the City of Depoe Bay and West 
Yost. The conclusions and recommendations in this memorandum were derived from the 
professional review of documentation that was provided by the City of Depoe Bay, West Yost, 
published literature and limited site observations. ACE Engineering is not responsible for errors 
and omissions that might exist in documents and construction performed by others. 
 
This report has been completed within the limitation of the West Yost approved scope of work. 
The services provided have been performed in a manner consistent with the level of competency 
presently maintained by other practicing professional engineers in the same type of work in the 
community of the project for the professional and technical soundness, accuracy, and adequacy 
of the work. ACE Engineering is not responsible for the use of this report for anything other than 
the Depoe Bay Filter Room at the Water Treatment Plant. 
 
ACE ENGINEERING LLC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Allan T Goffe, P.E., S.E. 
Principle Engineer 

Page 159 of 160



Page 160 of 160


	D.2_ Draft_CC Regular Meeting Minutes_1-23-2024
	D.3_20240319 AP Report
	Columbia Bank
	35189
	35190
	35191
	35192
	35193
	35194
	35195
	35196
	35197
	35198
	35199
	35200
	35201
	35202
	35203
	35204
	35205
	35206
	35207
	35208
	35209
	35210
	35211
	35212
	35213
	35214
	35215
	35216
	35217
	35218
	35219
	35220
	35221
	35222
	35223
	35224
	35225
	20240306 EFT
	20240306 EFT Umpqua


	I.1a_Community Hall & City Park Applications_Depoe Bay Chamber of Commerce
	I.1b_Operational Plan - Crab Feed  Salmon Bake_OLCC
	I.1c_Non Profit Exempt Event - Depoe Bay Chamber of Commerce_OLCC
	I.1d_Depoe Bay Chamber Certificate 2024
	J.1a_20240319_Inn at Arch Rock License Agreement
	J.1b_20240319_Attachments
	DRAFT Inn at Arch Rock License Agreement (v2)
	DRAFT Inn at Arch Rock License Agreement (v2)
	Ex. A - Survey - Appeal of #2-VAR-PC-23
	Ex. B - Final Order - Appeal of #2-VAR-PC-23
	CONCLUSIONS: Based upon the foregoing discussion, public testimony, and City Council deliberations, the City Council finds as follows:
	ORDER: It is ORDERED by the City Council that the appeal of the Planning Commission’s action regarding the approval of a variance and sign permit in Case File #2-VAR-PC-23 has been DENIED, and that the Planning Commission’s action of July 20, 2023, ap...


	Applicant's comments objecting to Section 7
	20240221_1820_Email from Glenn Petry
	20240222_2126_Email from Glenn Petry

	Sign Permit Application Packet
	Sign permit application form
	CITY OF DEPOE BAY P.O. BOX 8

	Inn at Arch Rock sign plan
	20240118_ODOT email chain


	J.2a_20240319_SE Shell Avenue Dedication
	J.2b_20240319_Attachments
	Letter to City Council (2-26-24)
	deed city form
	exhibit draft
	DBZO 152.256-152.258
	Sidewalk plans

	J.3a_Staff Report_LC Emergency Preparedness Grant
	Action Requested:  Council direction to staff regarding which project or item(s) to apply for.
	Discussion: Last grant period, the Council supported submitting a grant for a cache storage unit at City Hall. The grant was awarded and the City was able to purchase two smaller cache storage units, which have now been placed at City Hall.
	Staff offers a few considerations for Council consideration regarding potential projects to submit and would like Council direction.
	 Purchase another cache storage container (or 2 depending on cost). At this point, there is no location finalized for the containers so if they were purchased soon after the grant, the only place to store (depending on size) is at the wastewater plan...
	 Purchase of emergency response-preparedness supplies for City trucks and fuel transfer:
	o Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with Transfer Pump
	o Heavy Duty Headlamps
	o Emergency Preparedness Road Supply Kits
	o Emergency Power Supply
	 Establishment of “Do it Yourself” Emergency Preparedness Go Bag/Go Kit Program
	Budget Impact: Matching funds of $2,500 budgeted in FY 24/25.
	Recommendation: Council direction on what to apply for.
	Attachment(s):
	 Lincoln County Emergency Preparedness Matching Grant Announcement
	 Emergency supply item ideas for City trucks
	 Emergency Preparedness Cache Storage Program or Go Bag/Go Kit Program Ideas & Supplies

	J.3b_Preparedness Grant Announcement FY23-24
	Sheriff Curtis L. Landers
	MEDIA RELEASE
	Purpose:
	Qualifying Entities – all applicants must be in Lincoln County, Oregon
	Total Funding Available:
	Application Process
	Completing the Application
	Application Timeline
	Award Process
	Contact


	J.3c_Emergency Preparedness Truck Supplies
	60 Gallon Transfer Tank _ Camping World
	RDS Aluminum Transfer Fuel Tank Toolbox Combo with GPI 12V Fuel Transfer Pump, 91-Gallon, Rectangular, Diamond Plate, 8 GPM, Model# 72855 _ Northern Tool

	J.3d_Community Emergency-Supply Program Ideas
	J.4b_resilience-hub-typed-packages-en (1)
	Fixed Resilience Hubs

	J.5a_Staff Report_Drinking Water Source
	Action Requested:  Council consideration and approval of City applying for a Drinking Water Source Protection Planning Grant.
	Discussion: The City Council has expressed an interest in exploring ways to protect the City’s various drinking water sources and watersheds and has spoken to representatives from DEQ, RCAC, and Land Trust. Laura Johnson, from Oregon DEQ, has suggeste...
	The purpose of a planning grant is to help the City determine the best path forward and ideas for funding mechanisms that would work best for the City.
	Staff discussed with Ms. Johnson any impact on this grant if the City is chosen for the EPA Pilot Project through RCAC. Ms. Johnson said that if the City is chosen for the project and is awarded a grant, it is easy to modify the scope of work for the ...
	Budget Impact: There is no matching fund requirement. In the LOI, the City might want to list some kind of in-kind donation (i.e., staff time) but no money is actually transferred from City.
	Recommendation: Council approval for staff to move forward with working with Laura Johnson to submit a Letter of Interest for source water planning grant.
	Attachment(s):
	 Letter of Interest Application Form and Information
	 Land Conservation Scope of Work

	J.5b_SPF_LOI_2024
	Drinking Water Source Protection Fund – Funding 2024 (SWP-24-_____)
	 Please submit 1 copy of the Letter of Interest.  This may be in an electronic or hardcopy format.
	 You may attach additional sheets to your Letter of Interest to describe your project in response to Section 2.
	 Information on how to complete the LOI is available via the General Information Guide to 2024 Drinking Water Source Protection Loans and Grants document.
	Total amount of Drinking Water Source Protection Grant Funds Requested: $     
	Return Completed Letter of Interest to:
	Oregon Health Authority-Drinking Water Services
	Attn: Tom Pattee – 2024 DWSP Letter of Interest
	2080 Laura St
	Springfield, Oregon 97477

	J.5c_DepoeBay_LandConservation_ScopeOfWorkTasks
	K.1a_Project Updates Memo to Council
	K.1b_02-Planner Log-February 2024
	Applicant
	Date

	K.1c_10004-01 20240313 - Meeting Minutes
	K.1d_10004-05 Review of Exst Conds
	Introduction
	Review of Existing Conditions
	Site Visit
	Analysis of Existing Timbers

	Recommendations for Rehabilitation and Project Cost
	Construction Plans
	Project Cost


	K.1e_20240313_Planning Process for Emergency Supply Caches (with attachments)
	K.2a_Staff Report_Water Treatment Plant
	Action Requested:  None at this time.
	Budget Impact: At this time, still being calculated. Unknown.
	Recommendation: None.
	Attachment(s):
	 Preliminary Geotechnical Engineering Recommendations
	 Water Treatment Plant Existing Filter Building Foundation Observation

	K.2b_Depoe Bay WTP Evaluation_Draft
	Revision Log
	1.0 Introduction
	1.1 Surface Conditions and Topography
	1.2  Existing Facility and Planned Improvements
	1.3 Historical Plant Improvements
	1.4 Proposed Plant Improvements
	1.5 Site Reconnaissance
	1.6 Geology

	2.0 Subsurface Investigation
	3.0 Subsurface Conditions
	3.1 Fill Materials
	3.2 Native Soils
	3.3 Groundwater

	4.0 Preliminary Geotechnical Recommendations
	4.1 Conventional Foundations
	4.2 Structural Fill and Compaction Criteria
	4.3 Deep Foundations
	4.3.1 Pin Piles
	4.3.2 Helical Piers

	4.4 Additional Geotechnical Work During Design and Construction Phases

	5.0 Closure
	6.0 References
	Figures

	Figure 1.pdf
	Slide Number 1


	K.2c_2024-03-05 Depoe Bay observation TM
	_CC Regular Meeting Agenda_3-19-2024.pdf
	City of Depoe Bay
	City Council Regular Meeting
	March 19, 2024 – Tuesday, 6:00 PM
	Depoe Bay City Hall – 570 SE Shell Avenue




